

Family poverty and the care system

What is the connection between family poverty (and/or the cost-of-living crisis) and children entering the care system in England?

By Amber Elgee October 2024

Registered charity number 209782

Information regarding this publication

Disclaimer

All information in this document was gathered between April 2023 and October 2024, during the Conservative Party's time in government. Any reference to "government" pertains to the Conservative Party, unless specifically referring to the Labour government. Policies and statistics may change under the current Labour government or future administrations.

The report focuses on England but includes some examples from other parts of the UK. The methodology is based on a literature review conducted by the research assistant volunteer, with findings and conclusions drawn from existing research and publications available at the time of the review. No primary data collection was conducted for this project. As such, the report reflects the scope and limitations of the reviewed literature and may not account for recent developments or new empirical data.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	3
The context of poverty and what does it mean?	8
The Context of Children's Social Care	9
What is the care system?	9
Why do children enter care?	11
What is the connection between looked-after children and poverty?	12
Abuse, Neglect & the care system	14
Education	17
Deprivation, policy, and the fraying support of the state	19
Two-Child Policy and the Benefits Cap	22
Inflation, Debt, Universal Credit, and the Cost-of-Living Crisis	25
Health deprivation, disability, and the care system	31
What is the relationship between health and poverty?	31
What is the relationship between health/disability, poverty and looked-after o	:hildren? 34
Race & Ethnicity	37
Recommendations	40
Policy	40
Research	43
Conclusion	44
References	45

Executive Summary

The relationship between poverty and children entering care has not been well explored. There is limited evidence in the literature which directly or indirectly links poverty to the care system. From the limited evidence available, research suggests there is a relationship between poverty and children entering care (Bennett et al., 2022; Bywaters et al., 2020; Elliott et al., 2019). However, the question of 'what is the relationship between poverty and children entering care?' is not a straightforward one with a clear causation. Rather, it involves a complex interplay of various factors that intertwine poverty and the care system together.

These factors include abuse and neglect, deprivation, health and disability, race, and welfare support and policies. This report explores these factors to shed light on child poverty, examine the link between poverty and children entering care, highlight government policies, and research gaps in existing literature. Additionally, the report shares recommendations that, if implemented, could improve the care system for both children and families.

Abuse, Neglect, & the care system:

Abuse and neglect are the most common reasons for children entering care, or being placed on a child protection plan (Office of National Statistics [ONS], 2020; ONS, 2022a). The literature indicates a clear link between abuse, neglect, poverty and the interventions children receive in care (Bywaters et al., 2020; Bywaters et al., 2022).

Two main explanations for this relationship include:

- a) Material deprivation by poverty, which can lead to parental stress, potentially resulting in child abuse or mental health issues that contribute to neglect.
- b) Material deprivation leading to unintentional neglect.

The 'toxic trio' refers to factors including parental mental illness or learning disability, domestic violence, and substance abuse (Skinner et al., 2023). Stressors such as the toxic trio are frequently cited as explanations for abuse and neglect, and often included in assessments (Department for Education [DfE], 2019; Skinner et al., 2021). Despite the significance of these factors, the focus on these factors tends to overshadow the critical issues of poverty, income, employment, and housing deprivation, which are often overlooked as 'contextual factors' in assessments (Skinner et al., 2023).

Deprivation significantly influences the extent of Local Authorities' (LAs) involvement in child protection plans and the number of children entering care (<u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>; <u>Featherstone et al., 2019</u>). However, the child welfare system has a tendency to confuse poverty and material deprivation with neglect (<u>Pelton, 2015</u>). The cost-of-living crisis is causing more families to struggle to provide their children's essential needs.



Government services should shift their mentality regarding poverty. Specifically, the government must recognise poverty as a significant driving force behind children entering care, and not merely view it as a contextual factor.

The children's social care system should aim to avoid the risk-aversion strategy and ensure it has enough resources to achieve this, including increased investment in LAs and social services. Children should not have to rely on the 'postcode lottery' to access the support they need. Greater support and resources are essential for the care system to effectively address the impacts of poverty.

Literature is over-focused on the toxic trio (Skinner et al., 2021). There needs to be research into the 'contextual factors' such as poverty, structural inequalities in the care system, housing, employment, and how these are linked to the care system.

Education:

Education accounts for one of the largest deprivation gaps for children in care compared to those not in care (ONS, 2022a). There is insufficient evidence to understand how a parent's lack of education influences poverty and the likelihood of children entering care. However, it is clear in the literature that poverty has a detrimental impact on education. Research shows notable disparities in cognitive abilities, literacy, numeracy, social skills, emotional development and overall wellbeing between children from affluent and impoverished backgrounds (Goodman & Gregg, 2010). These differences become apparent early in life and tend to widen as children progress through their educational journeys (Goodman & Gregg, 2010; Luke & O'Higgins, 2018).

Looked-after children tend to have lower educational achievement compared to those not in care (Luke & O'Higgins, 2018). However, the care system can serve as a protective factor for educational attainment. Additionally, several other factors such - such as the duration of stay in care, special educational needs (SEN), neighbourhood deprivation, absenteeism, exclusions, school changes (Luke & O'Higgins, 2018) - along with parental aspirations play a more important role in influencing educational outcomes (Goodman & Gregg, 2010).

Individuals with lower levels of formal education are more vulnerable to long-term social and economic disadvantages. A lack of formal education can predict a person's chances of living in poverty, social mobility, health, and employment (Goodman & Gregg, 2010; Luke & o'Higgins, 2018; ONS, 2016). Lower educational attainment perpetuates the cycle of poverty, which together with the rising child poverty rates are likely to fuel children entering care, or being subject to care interventions (Bennett et al., 2022).

The government should implement strategies that promote educational aspirations for parents and children, and provide additional educational resources to children living in impoverished areas (Goodman & Gregg, 2010; Luke & O'Higgins, 2018). The Family Hub and Start for Life programme could play a significant role in meeting a child's educational needs.



Also, evaluating the effectiveness of the Family Hub services on poverty and education will be beneficial in fulfilling these needs. Moreover, further research is needed to understand the impact of educational deprivation on the likelihood of children entering care.

Deprivation, policy, and the fraying support of the state:

In the UK, there is a social gradient linking the likelihood of children entering care to levels of deprivation (<u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>). Government's policies play an important role in shaping the extent of poverty and deprivation in the country. The government's policies contribute to the level of poverty and deprivation in the UK.

The figures for 2020/21 reveal a troubling reality:

- 3.9 million children living in relative poverty,
- 3.3 million in absolute poverty,
- 2.7 million in deep poverty,
- 1.4 million in very deep poverty,
- 2.3 million in material deprivation,
- and 1.3 million living in food insecurity

The fraying support of the state over time including the benefits freeze, two-child policy, and benefits cap, has drawn significant criticism for exacerbating child poverty. These policies disproportionately impact certain groups that are already at risk of poverty, such as low paid workers, single parents, and minority groups (Child poverty and Action Group [CPAG], 2022; Goddard, 2022; Stewart et al., 2022).

The ongoing cost-of-living crisis and rising inflation have pushed families deeper into deprivation of essential resources like food and fuel (Cooper, 2023), with projections indicating that relative child poverty will continue to rise in the long run (Francis-Devine, 2023). Currently, there is limited research on how the cost-of-living crisis will affect the number of children entering care. However, previous studies on the relationship between poverty and the care system suggest that this crisis is likely to result in more children being placed into care (see Bennet et al., 2022; Bywaters et al., 2020; Elliott et al., 2019).

We recommend abolishing the two-child policy and the benefits cap to protect and reduce children in poverty. The government must take action to help those impacted by the cost-of-living crisis to prevent more children entering care. The government should focus on the long-term reliefs such as uprating of benefits. Benefits should be uprated based on the Households Cost Index (8.2%), rather than the Customer Price Index (6.7%).



Additionally, Universal Credit (UC) should include an essentials guarantee to directly support households reliant on UC (Trussell Trust & Joseph Rowntree Foundation [JRF], 2024). Furthermore, there is a need for research to explore the connection between the cost-of-living crisis and children entering care, as well as looked-after children and children in need.

Health deprivation, disability, and the care system:

There is a social gradient linking health and deprivation in the UK. Individuals from the most deprived areas in England experience poorer health and have lower life expectancies (ONS, 2022b). Deprivation gaps vary across England (Baker, 2019) and are influenced by health determinants such as access to care, housing, and employment, which can lead to poorer health outcomes (Watt et al., 2022).

According to the ONS (2022a), health issues represent the most significant form of recorded deprivation in children entering the care system. Nearly half (49%) of children entered care were living in households affected by health and disability deprivation (ONS, 2022a). Looked-after children exhibit higher rates of SEN compared to children in need or the general population (DFE, 2024), along with increased prevalence of mental health conditions (Bronsard et al., 2016). Both disabled and non-disabled children primarily enter the care system due to abuse and neglect, however, a range of other factors such as poor adjustment, lack of economic and social resources, parental illness etc, which can cause a breakdown in parental capacity (Kelly et al., 2016).

There is limited information available about the relationship between health, disability, poverty and looked-after children, making it difficult to draw definitive conclusions. However, it is evident that poverty increases an individual's risk of poor health and unmet healthcare needs (World Health Organisation [WHO], 2023). Moreover, disabled people have a higher poverty rate of 29% compared to 9% for non-disabled people, and they are more likely to experience very deep poverty (JRF, 2023a). The health and disabilities of looked-after children are influenced by environmental and social inequalities. These inequalities, which include neighbourhood deprivation and poverty, have been associated with children entering care (Bennett et al., 2022; Bywaters et al., 2020).

Further research is needed to explore the connections between health, disability, poverty, and looked-after children. However, to produce this kind of research, changes are necessary in the way LAs and social workers collect and record data. We recommend the consistent application of the Equality Act (2010) definition of disability in social care data and research, along with consistent data collection for disabled looked-after children, moving beyond the primary needs- based approach used in social care (Gledhilll-Baker, 2022). The inadequate documentation of disability has led to the under-representation and limited understanding of disabled looked-after children (Gledhilll-Baker, 2022). By accurately recording these details, we can enhance our understanding of disabled looked-after children and develop tailored strategies and interventions to better support them.

Race and Ethnicity:

There are profound race and socio-economic inequities within the social care system (Bywaters et al., 2016), resulting in a failure to provide necessary services to children in need of them (Bywaters & CWIP, 2020). Ethnicity and deprivation are the two primary factors driving inequalities in social care interventions (Bywaters et al., 2014). Before considering deprivation, data suggests mixed-race children experience the highest rates of being classified as children in need and receiving social care interventions, followed by black, white and Asian children. Specifically, according to data for social care interventions, black children are overrepresented and Asian children are underrepresented (Bywaters et al., 2014).

However, when taking deprivation into account, white and mixed-race children are overrepresented across all three intervention categories, which include children in need, child protection orders, and looked-after children (Bywaters et al., 2014). In the most deprived neighbourhoods, white children have higher rates of social care interventions. Conversely, in less deprived neighbourhoods, all Black sub-categories have higher child welfare interventions compared to White British children (Bywaters & CWIP, 2020). Asian children remain unrepresented regardless of deprivation (Bywaters et al., 2014). It is evident that both ethnicity and poverty influence child welfare interventions.

To address these inequalities we recommend that LAs and social workers implement clear anti-poverty and anti-racist policies and practices (Webb et al., 2020). Moreover, there needs to be a better understanding of the rates of looked-after children in relation to race and deprivation (Bywaters et al., 2016). There are limitations in the collection of parental socio-economic data and racial information that need to be addressed. We recommend that social services, researchers and policy makers adopt a wider set of ethnicity categories outside the main five (White, Asian, mixed, black or other). Service users should be allowed to self-identify their ethnicity whenever possible, and LAs should gather more information about parental data and families' socio-economic position (Bywaters et al., 2019). This approach would enhance our understanding of the relationship between ethnicity, looked-after children, and poverty, and highlight the necessity to allocate resources accordingly.

Conclusions:

This work aims to explore the relationship between poverty and children entering care. Despite the limited information and research constraints in the existing literature, evidence suggests a connection between poverty and children entering care. Additionally, factors such as abuse and neglect, education deprivation, policies, the fraying support of the state, health deprivation, race and ethnicity all contribute to this relationship. These factors should not be merely viewed as 'contextual factors'; rather, as factors that either directly or indirectly influence the link between child poverty and children entering care. Each factor exacerbates the cycle of poverty, highlighting the complex interplay at work. This report provides recommendations for further research and policy changes based on the literature (see Recommendations).



The context of poverty and what does it mean?

Poverty can be classified into four categories based on the circumstantial deprivation experienced by children:

- Relative Poverty refers to the proportion of children living in families whose income is below 60% of the median for that year, adjusted for inflation in real terms.
- Absolute Poverty describes children in households with incomes below 60% of the median, also adjusted for inflation in real terms.
- Deep Poverty includes children in households earning less than 50% of the median yearly income.
- Very Deep Poverty applies to children in households earning less than 40% of the median yearly income.

(Action for Children, 2023a; Cooper, 2023)

Additional measures can be valuable for tracking specific hardships or lack of access to resources. These include food insecurity (defined as households experiencing low and very low food security), and child material deprivation (which refers to children's lack of essential resources such as clothing and warmth) (<u>Action for Children, 2023a</u>).

At present, there is no systematic and consistent measure of poverty. Instead, poverty is assessed based on the aforementioned definitions and other measures including family resources survey, cost of living vulnerability measure, index of multiple deprivation, Universal credit (UC) data, and free school meal data (Fogden, 2022). Each of these measures has its advantages and disadvantages. Yet, ultimately, their focus on incomes, along with rapid inflation, means they struggle to accurately monitor the constantly shifting poverty line, deprivation, and affordable living costs (Fogden, 2022).

When talking about poverty and measuring poverty, it is important to remember that it exists on a social gradient (<u>Bywaters et al., 2022</u>). This means that people who are less socioeconomically advantaged, have less access to resources compared to those who are more advantaged. This disparity is further complicated by intersectional factors such as gender, race, and disability, which can exacerbate the challenges faced by marginalised groups.

The terms 'absolute', 'relative', 'deep' and 'very deep' poverty serve to categorise individuals based on their economic conditions. However, the definitions alone do not capture the full picture. Other critical factors must be considered, including neighbourhood, gender, race, disability (<u>Bywaters et al., 2022</u>), education, housing, culture, community, and health (<u>AAFP, 2021</u>). These elements interact in complex ways to influence both poverty levels and access to resources (<u>Griggs and Walker, 2008</u>).



The Context of Children's Social Care

What is the care system?

The UKs' children's social care system refers to a network of services and support designed to safeguard and promote the well-being of children and young people who are at risk or in need. It encompasses various types of care and intervention provided by LAs, charities, and private organisations (Children's Society, 2022).

The children's social care system is governed and informed by different pieces of legislation (Foster, 2024), including the Children Act 1989, the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000, the Children Act 2004, the Children and Families Act 2014, and the Children and Social Work Act 2017.

According to **s 17 of the Children Act 1989**, LAs must "safeguard and promote the welfare of children within their area who are in need". A child is in need if:

- a. They are unlikely to achieve or maintain a reasonable standard of health or development without the provision of services by a local authority.
- b. Their health or development is likely to be significantly impaired, or further impaired, without such services.
- c. They are disabled.

In England, a child can be admitted to care under various circumstances primarily through voluntary arrangements under **section 20 of the Children Act 1989**, or through court orders under **sections 31 and 38 of the Children Act 1989** when significant harm is a concern.

Additionally, investigations under **section 47 of the Children Act 1989** can lead to the need for care if the child's safety is at risk. According to section 47, if a child is suspected of suffering or likely to suffer significant harm, LAs must make enquiries to decide if they should take any action to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child. When a child is placed in care due to concerns about significant harm, a child protection plan may be put in place to outline the support and services required to ensure the child's safety and wellbeing.

The **Children Act 2004** builds upon the Children Act 1989 and emphasises the importance of safeguarding children. It provides the framework for integrated services and multi-agency cooperation in child protection which can influence decisions about admissions to care.

The **United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) 1989**, which the UK is a signatory to, underlines the importance of considering the child's views and rights in all decisions affecting them, including care placements.



There are several statutory instruments and guidance documents that outline how LAs should implement the provisions of the **Children Act 1989**, including the **Care Planning**, **Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010** and accompanying statutory guidance.

Children between 0-17 years of age placed within the care of their LA for 24 hours or more are referred to as 'looked-after children' or 'children in care' (<u>National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children [NSPCC]</u>, 2024). Scotland expanded its definition of 'looked-after children' to include those remaining in the family home while maintaining regular contact with social services (<u>NSPCC</u>, 2024).

Looked-after children can be placed with foster parents, in residential children's homes, or in other residential settings (NSPCC, 2024).

- Foster Care: Foster care is a temporary or long-term arrangement for children whose parents are unable to care for them. Foster care can take many forms including living with relatives, foster families, or group care (James, 2016). There is a distinction between residential care and treatment foster care. Residential care involves staff members caring for small groups of children, while treatment foster care is a family-based placement with "parents" who are especially trained to foster children (James, 2016). This arrangement enables treatment foster parents to provide specialised emotional, behavioural, and psychological care for children who need it (James, 2016).
- Residential Children's Homes: Residential children's homes are small to large group homes for children and adolescents (0-17 years) usually run by LAs. Children are placed under the supervision of professionally trained staff. All residential children's homes must adhere to Ofsted's 'Quality Standards', and undergo annual inspections by Ofsted (DfE, 2015). These homes must be registered and meet all requirements under the Care Standards Act (2000), the Care Standards Act (2000) (Registration)(England) Regulations 2010 and the Children's Homes (England) Regulations 2015 (Ofsted, 2023).
- Other residential settings: Other residential settings include places such as registered special schools, hospitals or other secure units (NSPCC, 2024).

The majority of children in need of care are placed in foster care (63%), followed by children's residential homes (19%), and independent/semi-independent accommodation (10%) (ONS, 2022a).

Since 2022, placing children in unregulated accommodation has been banned for those 15 years and under (Gov.uk, 2023). However, this has not been extended to 16-and17-year olds, despite 29 children dying in semi-independent settings over a five year period (Croxton, 2022).

Here at Together Trust, we have called for an outright ban on such settings for all children in care aged up to 18 as part of the Keep Caring to 18 campaigning group.



Why do children enter care?

Children typically enter care due to a variety of factors. The most commonly stated reasons include abuse or neglect, family dysfunction, child disabilities, and parental disabilities (ONS, 2022a).

Certain groups of children are at higher risk of entering the care system, including:

- Children living in socially rented housing
- Families experiencing challenges related to employment, education, health / disability, and housing deprivation
- Single-parent families
- Families who do not own their own home
- Large families
- Black and mixed-race families
- Children who consistently exhibit disruptive behaviour
- Children with higher rates of school absenteeism, exclusions, and suspensions

Other factors, such as ethnicity and sex, can influence the reasons children enter care. For example, Asian and Asian British children are more likely to enter care due to abuse and neglect (ONS, 2022a). Additionally, girls are more likely to enter the care system due to abuse and neglect compared to boys. In contrast, boys are more likely to enter the care system due to disability, socially unacceptable behaviour, and absent parenting (ONS, 2022a).

While low income is not commonly cited as a reason for children entering care, poverty and financial insecurity often contribute to families and children becoming involved with the care system (ONS, 2022a). Immediate factors such as family breakdown, illness, and abuse usually take precedence for safety reasons (ONS, 2022a).

However, research shows that 8 in 10 children experiencing at least one form of deprivation - such as related to employment, education, health/disability, and housing - entered care (ONS, 2022a).

The <u>statistics</u> show a significant disparity in experiences of deprivation between children in care and those not in care:

- 49% vs 25% for health and disability deprivation
- 39% vs 16% for education deprivation
- 33% vs 16% for employment deprivation
- 24% vs 15% for housing deprivation

Deprivation clearly influences whether children and families are known to social services or enter the care system. Since the start of the ongoing cost of living crisis in 2021, the annual inflation rate peaked at 11.1% in October 2022 (<u>Harari et al., 2024</u>). Although it decreased in the subsequent months, inflation has continued to



rise since the start of 2023, reaching 10.1% in January and 10.4% in February (<u>Harari et al., 2024</u>). This financial pressure on essential items such as food, energy, and gas prices is likely to exacerbate the connection between child poverty and the care system.

Current statistics on poverty indicate that 3.9 million children live in poverty (<u>JRF</u>, <u>2023a</u>). Moreover, <u>Action for Children</u> estimates that 50% of these children have a disabled parent, are a disabled child, come from a single-parent household, and/or have a parent working part-time while caring for a young child (aged 3-10 years).

A recent study by <u>Bennett et al.</u> found an additional 10,000+ children (estimated between 6,447-14,567) under the age of 16 entered the care system due to rising poverty rates between 2015 and 2020. The study highlighted that for every 100,000 children, a 1% point increase in child poverty was associated with five additional children entering care (2022).

The aforementioned evidence suggests that child poverty may be linked to children entering the care system. However, there has been limited research on the socio-economic background of children and families known to the care system, or those entering care, largely due to a lack of recognition of poverty's role in the care system by those in governance. Specifically, in 2016 the DfE's strategy for children's social care did not include the term 'poverty' in its report (Bennet et al., 2022).

To effectively address these issues and implement the necessary socio-economic changes (Bennet et al., 2022), there must be a broader recognition of the connections between deprivation, poverty and children entering the care system.

What is the connection between looked-after children and poverty?

The answer to this question is complex and requires a discussion of multiple factors that link poverty and the care system. There is limited evidence and a large gap in the literature connecting these two issues. Additionally, there seems to be discomfort and stigma associated with linking poverty and the care system, including factors such as abuse, disability, race, and gender, which intertwine in the ongoing cycle of poverty.

This discomfort is somewhat warranted, as research can perpetuate stigma against those living in poverty. It is crucial to recognise the impact that research can have on wider society. For example, the concept of the 'underclass' has permeated societal views and shaped expectations of what it means to be poor or to be involved in the care system, resulting in negative consequences for those perceived as belonging to the 'underclass' (De Vries et al., 2022). Despite these challenges, it is essential to pose difficult questions to improve the lives of children and families in the UK.

The government's hesitation in discussing poverty, let alone its connection to the care system is evident in their publications. For example, the DfE's 2016 strategy for children's social care did not include the word 'poverty' in its report (<u>Bennet et al., 2022</u>). Moreover, Morris et al., (<u>2018</u>) found that social workers directly involved in child welfare interventions due to abuse and neglect recognise that poverty is an



occupational hazard. Despite the uneasiness associated with the link between poverty and child maltreatment by social workers, poverty is so heavily saturated into their occupation, that it becomes hard to critically engage with (Morris et al., 2018).

Social workers employ a non-stigmatising practice when engaging with those in poverty, focusing on individual risk adverse management due to the associated stigma (Morris et al., 2018). However, barriers such as lack of resources and large caseloads, prevent social workers from engaging holistically with families (Morris et al., 2018). The stigmatisation of poverty, work pressure, resources and a risk aversion strategy means attention to poverty is often undermined (Morris et al., 2018).

Bennett et al., (2022) conducted one of the first large scale quantitative studies to suggest that rising child poverty rates might be leading to an increased number of children entering the care system across the UK. The study estimated that between 1% and 8% - an additional 10,000+ - of children under 16 entering care were linked to the rising rates of child poverty.

Neighbourhood deprivation has also been associated with children and families being involved in care interventions (<u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>). All four countries across the United Kingdom exhibited varying levels of deprivation, but all showed significant and strong links ($r_s > 0.95$, p < 0.001) between neighbourhood deprivation and child welfare interventions (<u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>).

There was a notable social gradient between neighbourhood deprivation, children with child protection concerns, and looked- after children (Bywaters et al., 2020).

Every increase in deprivation for these children was accompanied by higher rates of care welfare intervention (<u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>). The inequalities between the most and least deprived were substantial (<u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>). For example, children in the 10% most deprived neighbourhoods were over 10 times more likely to receive child welfare interventions, compared to children in the 10% least deprived neighbourhoods (<u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>).

Similarly, Elliott et al conducted an analysis using administrative data of looked-after children in Wales from 2008 to 2014. Over the years, it was consistently demonstrated that an increase in relative deprivation was linked to a higher rate of children being placed in out-of-home care (Elliott et al., 2020).

Despite the limited evidence in the literature, we will attempt to unravel the relationship between family poverty and children entering care. In this section, I analyse factors including abuse and neglect, deprivation, health and disability, race, gender, welfare support, and policies, to better understand the nature of the relationship between poverty and children entering the care system.



Abuse, Neglect & the care system

The most common reason for a child entering the care system or being placed on a child protection plan is abuse with neglect (41– 43%) and emotional abuse (32%) being the highest types of reported abuse (National Institute of Health and Care Excellence, 2017; ONS, 2022a; ONS, 2020).

The literature clearly indicates that there is a relationship between child abuse, neglect, poverty, and children receiving care interventions (<u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>; <u>Bywaters et al., 2022</u>). Importantly, poverty does not predetermine neglect, as most parents in poverty do not abuse their children (<u>McSherry, 2004</u>). Instead, poverty should be considered one of the factors related to abuse and neglect (<u>Bywaters et al., 2022</u>).

There are two main <u>theoretical explanations</u> that connect poverty and neglect/abuse:

- 1. Material deprivation caused by poverty leads to parental stress, which can result in child abuse or mental health struggles which lead to neglect.
- 2. Material deprivation which leads to lack of health and safety, inadequate housing, insufficient food, and inadequate clothing, can lead to unintentional hazards or accidental, consequently resulting in neglect.

In relation to the **first theory**, there has been increasing research and political discussion over the years regarding the stressors that lead to abuse, neglect, child protection orders, and out-of-home care, particularly regarding the toxic trio.

The toxic trio refers to factors including parental mental illness, learning disabilities, domestic violence and substance abuse (Skinner et al., 2023). The presence of these factors can be identified in assessments. Poverty is not viewed as a single casual factor leading to child abuse and neglect; rather, it is considered a contributing factor alongside other factors such as the toxic trio (Font & Maguire-Jack, 2020).

In 2019, half of the assessments reported domestic violence, 43% included reports of parental mental illness, 20% reported the presence of alcohol abuse, and slightly less was reported for drug misuse (<u>DfE, 2019</u>; <u>Skinner et al., 2021</u>). Undoubtedly, the toxic trio is an important factor in the lives of children involved in social care interventions. However, the dominance of discourse around the toxic trio has led to other factors being overlooked (<u>Skinner et al., 2023</u>).

Skinner et al., (2023) found that most of the studies outlined in the paper did not discuss parental socio-economic status or other associated factors such as housing quality, housing stability, and homelessness, nor how any of these factors contributed to family stress even with available data. Furthermore, there is no commentary on the intersectionality surrounding the socio-economic factors or the toxic trio that leads to neglect and abuse (Skinner et al., 2023).



Additionally, factors such as poverty, income, employment and housing instability are often excluded or seen as contextual in assessments (Skinner et al., 2023). Skinner et al., (2023) found there is insufficient evidence for the toxic trio to dominate the conversation about the relationship between poverty, abuse, and neglect.

This oversight is largely due to the social care services' risk aversion strategies and a lack of resources to deal with deprivations that contribute to abuse and neglect (Morris et al., 2018). Specifically, social workers tend to focus on immediate problems as they do not have the authority to address social and economic factors that contribute to neglect. Legislation continues to frame families known to social services as social problems or a consequence of poor choices (Featherstone et al., 2016; McSherry, 2004; Swift, 1991).

Social and economic factors, such as employment, housing, and access to resources, can have consequences for children (Skinner et al., 2023). For example, child poverty rates (Bennett et al., 2022; McCabe et al., 2024), deprivation (Elliott et al., 2019), and neighbourhood deprivation (Bywaters et al., 2020) are linked to a rise in children receiving out-of-home care and child protection concerns/orders. The reliance of language and ideas such as the toxic trio within research and social care is unhelpful (Skinner et al., 2023), and shifts the focus away from the individual as a social subject (Featherstone et al., 2016).

Regarding the **second theory** mentioned, material deprivation and other social and economic deprivations, such as housing, can lead to neglect and the involvement of children's social services. Deprivation plays a clear role in determining the level of involvement LAs have in issuing child protection plans and in children entering care.

As previously discussed, there is a social gradient between these factors. For each step toward increased deprivation, there is a corresponding increase in the number of looked-after children and child protection plans across the UK (<u>Bywaters et al.,</u> 2020).

Less deprived LAs intervene more frequently in deprived areas, than more deprived LAs do (<u>Featherstone et al., 2019</u>). Specifically, more affluent LAs implement higher rate of child protection plans and interventions for looked-after children in deprived areas, compared to those in more deprived LAs (<u>Featherstone et al., 2019</u>). For instance, children in Blackpool are 12 times more likely to receive care or child protection plans than children in Richmond (<u>Featherstone et al., 2016</u>).

Deprivation and a postcode lottery of resources clearly play a role in determining whether families become involved with the social services. The safety and well-being of children are of the utmost importance. However, the child welfare system has a tendency to confuse poverty and material deprivation with neglect (Pelton, 2015).



According to the UK government, the definition of neglect is "the persistent failure to meet a child's basic physical and/or psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the child's health or development." (DfE, 2014). Neglect includes issues such as substance abuse in pregnancy, and not providing adequate resources in the following categories: food, clothing, housing, supervision, medical care and treatment, emotional well-being, and education (DfE, 2014; NSPCC, 2023).

The cost-of-living crisis has further pushed families struggling with poverty into further deprivation of basic resources. <u>Barnardo's analysis</u> of the impact of the cost-of-living crisis found that:

- 1 in 4 parents struggle to provide sufficient food for their children.
- 1 in 10 parents could not provide their child with appropriate bedding.
- 1 in 3 parents worry about homelessness or losing housing.

These statistics show how the increasing pressures of the cost-of-living crisis are preventing parents from providing essentials for their children. Despite the limited research on this matter, there is some evidence to suggest that losses and gains in income has an impact on abuse and neglect experienced by children(Pelton, 2015; Ryan & Schuerman, 2004). Support with housing and cash assistance for essential supplies can reduce the risk of child placement and maltreatment (Pelton, 2015; Ryan & Schuerman, 2004).

This section will not focus extensively on the welfare state's financial policies. In the next section, titled "Deprivation, the social gradient and the fraying support of the state", I discuss the policies that uphold deprivation, poverty, and their links to the care system.

From the evidence presented above, I can conclude there is a relationship between abuse, neglect, poverty, and children receiving care intervention (<u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>; <u>Bywaters et al., 2022</u>). To this day, abuse and neglect remain the main reasons for children becoming involved with the care system. However, focusing on factors like the toxic trio has inappropriately dominated the political and research world (<u>Skinner et al., 2023</u>).

There needs to be greater intersectional research and political consideration regarding contextual factors such as poverty, income, housing, and employment. Moreover, there should be a recalibration of the children's social care system to provide greater support and better resources (e.g., housing and food support) to those in need, rather than relying on a 'postcode lottery' to assist children and families. Finally, there needs to be a shift towards recognising structural inequalities in children and family social care, and providing social services with the resources to address these factors (Featherstone et al., 2016).



Education

According to the ONS (2022a), the largest deprivation gaps between children entering care and those not in care were education and health. Education deprivation refers to situations where none of the household members have a Level 2 qualification or where no one is in full-time education between the ages of 16-18 (ONS, 2022a). Over a quarter (39%) of children entering care were living in educationally deprived households, compared to children not in care (25%; ONS, 2022a). There is no research clarifying how a parent's lack of education mediates family poverty and the likelihood of children entering care. However, there is a body of evidence on how poverty affects education for children both in and out of care, and how being in care impacts a child's education.

Poverty significantly affects educational outcomes. Children from low-income families and lower social classes tend to have lower educational aspirations (<u>Griggs and Walker, 2008</u>), less enriching home learning environments, limited access to material resources (e.g., Wi-Fi and computers), and lower scores on GCSEs. In general, children from poorer families have lower educational attainment compared to their peers (<u>Goodman & Gregg, 2010</u>).

Moreover, Nieuwenhuis et al., (2021) found that young children (ages 13-14) exposed to longer periods of neighbourhood and school poverty exhibited lower educational attainment. Evidence shows gaps in cognitive, social, emotional development, and well-being between children from affluent and impoverished backgrounds (Goodman & Gregg, 2010).

These gaps can begin as early as age 3 and continue to widen by age 5 (Goodman & Gregg, 2010). This gap persists and grows during primary and secondary school years. By age 11, 97% of children from the wealthiest fifth (the richest 20% or 1/5 of the population) have reached their expected academic level according to government standards (Goodman & Gregg, 2010).

However, only around three-quarters of children from the poorest fifth achieved their expected levels (<u>Goodman & Gregg, 2010</u>). By the end of high school, only 21% of children in the poorest fifth had attained five good GCSEs compared to 75% of the children from the richest fifth (<u>Goodman & Gregg, 2010</u>).

Generally, looked-after children fall behind in educational attainment, cognitive abilities, and literacy and numeracy skills. Also, they do not perform as well in their GCSEs compared to the general population (Luke & O'Higgins, 2018). This attainment gap is not the result of the care system itself. Those who are in care for longer (2+ years), outperform those in shorter stays (less than 2 years; Luke & O'Higgins, 2018). Furthermore, both longer- and shorter-stay children outperform children in need. Children in need are more likely to be autistic, have learning disabilities, and poorer socio-economic status, which will likely contribute to their educational attainment (Luke & O'Higgins, 2018).

Similarly, looked-after children are more likely to have behavioural, emotional, social needs, as well as learning disabilities, and they often experience greater neighbourhood deprivation (<u>Luke & O'Higgins, 2018</u>; <u>ONS, 2023a</u>). For example, looked-after children who remain in care longer are more likely to have SEN (<u>ONS, 2023a</u>).

However, when children stay in care for extended periods, risk factors contributing to lower educational attainment, such as absences, exclusions and school changes, decrease (<u>Luke & O'Higgins, 2018</u>). While care is a factor in predicting a child's educational attainment, other more important factors, including socio-economic status, previous educational experiences, and personality characteristics, appear to play a more crucial role (<u>Luke & O'Higgins, 2018</u>).

Poverty impacts both looked-after children and children in need, affecting them in broader contexts (e.g. health) as well as in terms of their educational attainment. However, the educational aspirations of parents and children seem to have a more profound impact. Children from poorer backgrounds are less likely to view themselves as academic and believe that school results will affect their lives (Goodman & Gregg, 2010).

At age 11, the most significant factor in predicting educational attainment is parental aspirations and attitudes toward their child's educational attainment (Goodman & Gregg, 2010). These aspirations and attitudes are socially graded and tend to relate to a family's socio-economic position (Goodman & Gregg, 2010).

For example, <u>Goodman & Grega</u> (2010) found that the majority (81%) of mothers from the richest fifth hoped their child would go to university, compared to the minority (37%) of the mothers in the poorest fifth (the poorest 20% or 1/5 of the population studied).

Low aspirations and attitudes among parents and children can lead to lower education attainment, compared to families with higher educational aspirations who provide resources for their child's education (e.g., tuition, computers, and Wi-Fi; Goodman & Gregg, 2010).

Individuals with less formal education are more vulnerable to long-term social and economic disadvantages (<u>Luke & O'Higgins, 2018</u>). The main drivers of future poverty are childhood poverty and poor educational outcomes (<u>HM Government, 2014</u>). These drivers are influenced by factors such as parental qualifications, parental health, child health, the home learning environment, and child noncognitive skills (including aspirations). The level of education an individual attains over their lifetime can predict their chances of living in poverty, experiencing material deprivation (<u>ONS, 2016</u>), and facing poorer health, unemployment, and crime (<u>Luke & O'Higgins, 2018</u>). Education is also a major contributor to social mobility (<u>Goodman & Gregg, 2010</u>).

All of the aforementioned factors perpetuate the cycle of poverty, which, together with the rising child poverty rates, is likely to fuel the number of children entering care or being subject to care interventions (Bennett et al., 2022).



We recommend that the government and LAs deploy strategies to improve parental and child educational aspirations, encourage parents to read to their children at a young age, provide home educational resources for less affluent families, and implement strategies to offset the effects of neighbourhood deprivation on children living in impoverished areas (Goodman & Gregg, 2010; Luke & O'Higgins, 2018).

The care system and LAs need to make improvements in preventing unregulated education, securing places for looked-after children in schools that meet their needs, and boosting educational, training and employment outcomes for care leavers (House of Commons Education Committee, 2022; Thompson, 2022). Also, the government must improve the quality and depth of LA data, as well as the stability of placements (O'Sulllivan & Westerman, 2007).

Family Hubs as part of the Family Hubs and Start for Life programme could contribute to meeting a child's educational needs by enhancing aspirations and resources. The use of Family Hubs would help reduce educational disparities by identifying deprived children and those in need at an early stage (<u>HM Government</u>, 2022).

Preventative early holistic interventions for families and children will aid in improving a child's educational, physical, emotional, cognitive and social outcomes. Such interventions include support for perinatal mental health, parental relationships, and early communication, language, and literacy skills (HM Government, 2022).

Deprivation, policy, and the fraying support of the state

Evidence suggests that child poverty may contribute to the rising rates of children entering care (Bennet et al., 2022). As mentioned earlier, there is a strong social gradient between the likelihood of child welfare interventions and deprivation in the UK (Bywaters et al., 2020). Child protection concerns and the number of children entering care increase with each step toward deprivation (Bywaters et al., 2020; Elliott et al., 2019).

Policies in different countries affect the quality of life of their populations and contribute to the levels of deprivation and poverty within those countries. The UK has policies that both support prosperity and exacerbate deprivation. According to HM Treasury (2022) and HM Government (2023), the UK government currently has the following policies in place in England to help those living in poverty:

- Further funds worth <u>£26 billion</u> are being designated to vulnerable workingage and disabled households in 2023/24.
 Benefits will now be aligned with September inflation (10.1%).
- Additional uprating of benefits by 6.7% from <u>April 2024</u>. In 2024/25, UC will increase by 6.7% and will include the following amounts:
 - £311.68 per month for single people aged under 25



- £393.45 per month for single people aged 25 and over
- £489.23 per month for joint claimants both aged under 25
- £617.60 per month for joint claimants both aged 25 and over
- Additional Cost of Living Payments will be paid to eligible households.
 - In 2023/24, up to £900 will be paid to those receiving UC, income-based Jobseekers Allowance, income-related Employment and Support Allowance, Income Support, Pension Credit, Working Tax Credit, and Child Tax Credit.
 - Fortunately, these payments will not affect the benefit cap, or any existing benefits a household receives.
 - Eligible households will receive three Cost of Living Payments of £301, £300 and £299
 - Pensioners will receive an additional £300 and will receive an increase on their state pension based on inflation (10.1%).
- Pensioners rates will increase by 8.5% from <u>April 2024</u>. Full rates for pensions will be:
 - £221.20 per week for the new State Pension
 - £169.50 per week for the basic State Pension
- The <u>National Living Wage</u> was increased in April 2023 by 9.7% for all age groups.
 - There will be a further increase in National Living Wage in April 2024 by 9.8%.
- Eligible households will receive extra disability <u>Cost of Living payments</u> worth £150 to assist with additional costs.

This extra payment will not be included in the benefit cap. This applies to those eligible for or claiming:

- Disability living allowance
- Personal independence payment
- Attendance allowance
- Scottish disability benefit
- Armed forces independence payment
- Constant attendance allowance
- War pension mobility supplement
- <u>Local Housing Allowance</u> set to increase by £7 billion.
- National Insurance set to be cut from 12% to 10%.
- <u>Benefit cap levels</u> will increase for families with or without children for 2023/2024.
 - The benefits cap will remain frozen at these levels in 2024/2025.
 - The benefit cap levels for Greater London will rise from £23,000 to £25,323, and from £20,000 to £22,020 nationally.
 - The benefit cap for single households without children will rise from £15,410 to £16,967 in Greater London and from £13,400 to £14,753 nationally.



- The <u>Household Support Extension</u> will provide an additional £1 billion in 2023/23 to help with essential household costs.
- The <u>Energy price quarantee</u> has fixed the cost of energy bills to be equivalent to £3,000 a year.

Despite the policies put in place to prevent and tackle child poverty, there are still many children and families living in poverty.

Compared to 2018/2019, in 2020/21 there has been a decline in relative child poverty (29% vs 27%), absolute child poverty (26% vs 23%), deep child poverty (20% vs 19%), very deep child poverty (13% vs 10%), and child material deprivation (18% vs 16%) (Action for Children, 2023a).

In 2020/21, 3.9 million children were living in relative poverty, 3.3 million in absolute poverty, 2.7 million in deep poverty, 1.4 million in very deep poverty, 2.3 million in material deprivation, and 1.3 million in food insecurity (Action for Children, 2023a).

In 2022/23, it was estimated that 30% of children were living in relative low income and 25% were living in absolute low income households after housing costs (<u>Brown, 2024</u>). In fact, 100,000 more children were drawn into relative poverty (after housing costs), with poorer families descending deeper into poverty (<u>CPAG, 2024</u>).

There has not been a consistent fall in the rates of poverty since the first half of Blair's Labour administration. In the UK, there persists a concerning trend of poverty deepening. In 2021/22, 6 million people were experiencing very deep poverty (<u>JRF</u>, 2024), and in 2022/23 absolute low income increased by 600,000 people (after housing costs; <u>Francis-Devine</u>, 2024).

This situation disproportionately affected some children more than others:

- Families with a youngest child under 5 comprised 36% of all children living in poverty
- 47% of children in Asian and British Asian families are in poverty, 51% of children in Black/ African/ Caribbean and Black British families, and 24% of children in white families
- 44% of children in lone parent families were in poverty
- 34% of children living in families where someone is disabled were in poverty

According to UNICEF figures, the UK has seen a 20% increase in child poverty between 2014-2021 (Rees et al., 2023). Comparatively, other countries such as Poland, Slovenia, Latvia, and Lithuania have reduced child poverty by more than 30% (Rees et al., 2023).



Although these policies are a step in the right direction, the government needs to address the eroding social security system which contributes to trapping many families and children in poverty (Trussell Trust & JRF, 2023). Over time, the decline in real terms working age benefits; due to benefits caps and freezes, has weakened the social security net that low-income families depend upon (Action for Children, 2023a).

Two-Child Policy and the Benefits Cap

Since the 2013 coalition government, there have been several policies that have pushed families further into poverty and have helped fray the social security system in place to help those in need, including:

- the two-child policy and
- the benefits cap

The two-child policy limits families from claiming more than two children on their UC or child tax credit (born after April 2017). There are a few exceptions to this limit, including rape or coercive relationships, adopted children, multiple births, disabled children, and children at risk of going into care (CPAG, the Church of England & Benefit Changes & Bigger Families, 2022).

Table 1: Child Benefits under the Two-Child Policy 2023/2024 and 2024/2025

How much you will get	Extra monthly payment under Universal Credit 2023/2024	Extra monthly payment under Universal Credit 2024/2025	Child Benefit Weekly Rates 2023/2024	Child Benefit Weekly Rates 2024/2025
First child	£315.00 (born before 6 April 2017) £269.58 (born on or after 6 April 2017)	£333.33 (born before 6 April 2017) £287.92 (born on or after 6 April 2017)	£24.00	£25.60
Second child/ subsequent eligible children	£269.58 per child	£287.92 per child	£15.90 per child	£16.95 per child

(HM Government, n.da; HM Revenue & Customs, 2024)

In 2024/2025, Child Benefit increased by 6.7%, in line with the Customer Price Index. This means the payment will be £25.60 per week for the first child and £16.95 per week for every subsequent child (Kirke-Wade & Harker, 2023).

The child benefits count towards a household's benefits cap. The benefits cap limits the amount of welfare individuals can receive. The benefits cap will remain frozen at these levels in 2024/2025 (<u>Kirke-Wade & Harker</u>, 2023).

Those who do not fall under the exceptions, are limited to (HM Government, n.db):

- £1,835 per month for couples and single parents with children outside Greater London.
- £1,229.42 per month for single adults outside Greater London.
- £2,110.25 per month for couples and single parents with children in Greater London.
- £1,413.92 per month for single adults in Greater London.

The government introduced the child policy and the benefits cap to promote 'fairness' within the welfare system, to reduce poverty, welfare dependency and worklessness (DWP, 2015).

Both policies have been criticised by over 50 organisations including the Child Action Poverty Group, the Church of England, Women's Aid, Refugee Council, Action for Children, the Trussell Trust, the Children's Society, the Trades Union Congress and the JRF (Weaver, 2023). The Supreme Court (Gingerbread, 2018) found that the original benefits cap breached the UK's international obligations under the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child ([2015] UKSC 16). The two-child policy has been dubbed by the CPAG as the biggest driver to the rising rate of child poverty.

This policy currently affects 1.1 million children from 318,000 households (Goddard, 2022). In addition, over the 5 years since its introduction, it has affected an estimated 1.4 million children from 400,000 households (CPAG, 2022).

As more children are being born under the two-child policy, an estimated 3 million children will be affected (CPAG, 2022). The two-child policy has forced many families to reduce essentials, forced parents to skip meals, and prevented them from adequately heating their homes (CPAG, 2022). Moreover, the two-child policy has been criticised for disproportionately affecting certain groups including:

- Low paid workers: 56% of parents affected by the policy are low paid workers
- Households in rented accommodation
- Single parents: Of those who are affected by the policy, 40% are female single parents, 5% are male single parents and 55% are from couple families
- Minority groups: Households from a Pakistani, Bangladeshi, Black, Muslim, Jewish, Roma and Traveler Communities

(CPAG, 2022; Goddard, 2022; Stewart et al., 2022)



The two-child policy puts at risk larger families with three or more children and low/no-earning single parents in rented accommodation with at least one child under 5 (Stewart et al., 2022). Also, it puts at greater risk families and children who are already vulnerable to poverty (Sefton et al., 2019). For example, larger families affected by the cost-of-living crisis are projected to make up the majority of those living in relative poverty by 2026/27 (Corlett et al., 2022). This could be further exacerbated by the continuation of the benefits cap and the two-child policy.

Previous attempts to abolish the two-child policy have failed, and the policy has been defended as 'fair' and 'proportionate' (<u>Goddard, 2022</u>). This policy stands on the assumption that its presence encourages larger families to seek additional work and better family planning (<u>Goddard, 2022</u>). However, there is no evidence showing that this policy actually encourages that (<u>Goddard, 2022</u>).

Compensating for the child element loss of the UC or child tax is significantly difficult (Sefton et al., 2019). For example, for a single parent with three children to compensate for the child element loss, they would have to increase working hours from 16 to 40 hours per week (£11.50 per hour), with the assumption that increased work hours would lead to more travel and childcare costs (Sefton et al., 2019).

Both policies ignore the barriers to work, which affect large and single-parent families the most (<u>Goddard</u>, <u>2022</u>). It is estimated that 1.5 to 1.9 million children living in deprived households face at least one barrier to taking on additional paid work (<u>Action for Children</u>, <u>2023a</u>).

Barriers to work for these families include:

- Reduced financial gain from the welfare system when entering paid work
- Increased struggle to escape in-work poverty
- Caring responsibilities for children (especially in situations with at least three children under 5, or with ill mental/mental health, disability; (<u>Stewart et al.</u>, 2022),
- Refugee status (<u>Sefton et al., 2019</u>)

The government must abolish the two-child policy and the benefits cap. Based on research and the projections of various organisations, this policy will only further plunge more children into poverty. Due to this policy, 3 million children are at risk of poverty (CPAG, 2022).

Abolishing the benefits cap would target those in the poorest households and would pull 250,000 children out of deep poverty (<u>CPAG, 2023</u>). Similarly, removing the two-child limit would push 250,000 children out of poverty and 850,000 into less deep poverty (<u>CPAG, 2023</u>).

Other research suggests that abolishing the two-child limit of UC and/or child tax credit will protect children from poverty and will remove 300,000 children from poverty and 300,000 from deeper poverty (<u>Tucker, 2019</u>). Removing the benefits



cap is estimated to reduce 50,000 children in poverty and 100,000 children in deeper poverty (<u>Tucker, 2019</u>). Abolishing both policies would lead to a reduction of 300,000-500,000 children in poverty and deeper poverty (<u>Tucker, 2019</u>).

Inflation, Debt, Universal Credit, and the Cost-of-Living Crisis

The cost-of-living has continued to rise from 2021 to 2022. In October 2022, the annual inflation rate reached a 41-year high of 11.1% (Harari et al., 2024). Fortunately, inflation has fallen to 2.3% in the 12 months to April 2024 (ONS, 2024). Despite this fall in inflation, the cost-of-living crisis will continue whether or not inflation falls to the Bank of England's 2% target (New Economics Foundation, 2023).

The rise in inflation during the cost-of-living crisis has led to an increased cost of consumer goods, including essentials (e.g., food, and energy; <u>Harari et al., 2024</u>). For example, between May 2021 and May 2024, food prices rose by 30.6%, whereas it took 13 years (January 2008 – May 2021) for average food prices to inflate to the same degree (<u>Harari et al., 2024</u>).

Between June and July 2023, the cost-of-living has affected 67% of adults in Great Britain compared to the previous month (ONS, 2023b). Based on opinion polls, this increase in the cost-of-living was commonly cited as affecting food (97%), gas and electricity (69%) and fuel (40%; ONS, 2023b).

The cost-of-living crisis will sink more struggling families into further deprivation of essential resources and poverty (Cooper, 2023). It has affected poverty rates in the UK and has sunk more children into poverty, with relative child poverty set to continue to rise in the long run (Francis-Devine, 2023). In 2020/21, the UK saw a decrease in poverty compared to the previous year (2018/19; Action for Children, 2023a).

However, since the start of the cost-of-living crisis in 2021, child poverty has increased. In 2020/21, an estimated 3.9 million children were in poverty (JRF, 2023a). Unfortunately, the child poverty rate in the UK did not continue the declining trend from 2020/21. In 2021/22, child poverty was estimated at 4.2 million and returned to its pre-pandemic levels (Action for children, 2023b). In 2022/23, children in relative low income hit 4.3 million (after housing costs; Brown, 2024).

As stated at the beginning of this section, living in poverty increases a child's chances of entering the care system. In England, children in the 10% most deprived neighbourhoods were over 10 times more likely to receive child welfare intervention compared to children in the 10% least deprived neighbourhoods (Bywaters et al., 2020).



Considering the links between poverty and the care system identified in previous research (Bennet et al., 2022; Bywaters et al., 2020; Elliott et al., 2019), it is not unjust to speculate that the pressures of the cost-of-living crisis, which are pushing people into further deprivation, will push more children into care. The children's social care system is already at breaking point. There is a lack of placements, which causes instability in placements, schools, and relationships (Become, 2022). This has been exacerbated by years of underinvestment, the use of independent, high-charging children's homes, and insufficient staff and resources (Become, 2022).

The government must take action to help those affected by the cost-of-living crisis and prevent more children entering care due to poverty. The UK government has responded to the cost-of living crisis and poverty with the policies detailed above.

Further fund worth £26 billion are being designated to vulnerable working age and disabled households in 2023/24

Benefits will now line up for September inflation (10.1%) (HM Treasury, 2022)

To protect vulnerable households, benefits inflation needs to align with real-terms inflation and the amount needed to afford essentials. Due to the legacy of the benefits freeze and cuts, this is not always the case. Because of the benefits freeze, introduced in 2013, the amount households receive is not in line with real-term inflation rates (Action for Children, 2023a).

For example, in 2023, benefits would be worth 4.8% to 7.3% less if they had been uprated as normal between 2013 to 2023 (Action for Children, 2023a).

- Standard UC for people under and over 25 years of age is down by 5.3%,
- UC child element and child tax credit (child element) is down by 4.8%,
- UC child element for those born after April 2017 is down by 7.3%,
- child benefit for the first child is down 5.4%, and 5% for additional children

(Action for Children, 2023a).

In April 2024, benefits were uprated by 6.7% in line with the September 2023 inflation rate. However, UC payments do not cover essential payments in a household. Analysis by the Trussell Trust and JRF (2024) foundations showed that UC needs to be at least £120 per week for single households, and £200 per week for couples to cover essentials. Even under the previously updated rate (10.1%), single households will be £35 below the amount needed for living essentials, under 25s will be receiving £53 short of what they need per week, and couples will receive £66 less (McRae, 2023; Trussell Trust & JRF, 2024). An updated analysis by Trussell Trust & JRF (2024) shows that even with uprating the benefits by 6.7% in April 2024, there is still a £29 gap for single households and a £57 gap for couple households to cover essentials.



Most people on UC are going without essentials. Currently, 5.7 million people are on UC, who are the most vulnerable to debt, food insecurity, food bank use, and living without essentials (<u>Trussell Trust & JRF, 2023; Weal, 2022</u>). For example, most people referred to Trussell Trust food banks claim a means-tested benefit with 70% of those claiming UC (<u>Bull et al., 2023</u>). The Trussell Trust found more than half (58%) of those claiming UC had experienced food insecurity in the last year (<u>Bull et al., 2023</u>).

Therefore, the suggested increase to UC mentioned above would be a massive help for those people, even though it will only cover essentials (<u>Trussell Trust & JRF, 2023</u>).

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the temporary uplift of £20 in addition to the standard UC contributed to the temporary reduction in the rate of poverty in the UK in 2020/21 (JRF, 2023a; Trussell Trust & JRF, 2023). This uplift helped lift 400,000 children out of poverty (Action for Children, 2023b) and helped target those most vulnerable to poverty, including larger families (JRF, 2023a; Trussell Trust & JRF, 2023). Other temporary uplifts such as the cost-of-living payments which were introduced to counter high energy bills led to reductions in food banks usage and demand for advice from the Citizens Advice Service (Trussell Trust & JRF, 2023).

The uplifts in financial support made a real difference to those most vulnerable to the financial struggles of the pandemic and the current cost of living crisis. The government should introduce policies on mitigating the impact of the cost-of-living crisis on those who are most vulnerable, to stop children from being taken into care.

Recommendations:

- Increase the UC by £20 per week. This can help pull 400,000 children out of poverty (<u>Action for Children, 2023b</u>).
- Set the UC to at least £120 per week for single households and £200 per week for couples, to enable them to cover essentials (Trussell Trust & JRF, 2024).
- Integrate an essentials guarantee policy into UC policy as outlined by the Trussell Trust & JRF, (2023;2024), and review it annually. This would provide a core support system for households on UC, and directly address material deprivation (Trussell Trust & JRF, 2024).

Implementing these recommendations will help more children escape relative poverty, reducing the chances of becoming involved with the care system.

When considering the essentials guarantee, it is important to factor in the impact of debt. Over time, the erosion of the social security net and inadequate income has led to a reliance on debt among vulnerable households (<u>Tims & Wright, 2024</u>). This reliance includes overdrafts, credit card debt, banks, and payday lenders (<u>Tims & Wright, 2024</u>).



As of May 2023, nearly 6 million low-income households were in unsecured debt, totalling around £14.2 billion (<u>JRF, 2023b</u>). This is an astounding £2500 per household (<u>JRF, 2023b</u>). Research by JRF (<u>2023b</u>), shows that 2.3 million low-income households need to borrow money in order to pay for essentials (e.g. rent), with over half of those using credit for bills going without three or more essentials (<u>JRF, 2023b</u>).

In May 2023, the New Economic Foundation found that 2.3 million people on UC were automatically receiving debt reductions from their standard allowance, which contributes to essentials such as food and bills (Tims & Wright, 2024). Each year, the DWP deducts £1.6 billion for debt repayments in low-income households (Tims & Wright, 2024). These reductions further erode the social security net needed to support struggling families, and perpetuate the debt cycle that pushes people deeper into poverty (Tims & Wright, 2024).

Although debt deductions are capped at 25%, this still affects low-income families' ability to afford essentials. Even with the average deduction in standard UC allowance, the reduced UC falls short of what is needed to cover essentials and the essentials guarantee (Tims & Wright, 2024).

Current practices such as the two-child policy, benefits cap, and debt reductions to UC undermine the critical support UC provides to low-income households during the current cost-of-living crisis.

At a minimum, the government should reduce debt deductions to 15% (<u>Tims & Wright, 2024</u>). For greater impact, the government should set a legal minimum for UC based on the essentials guarantee (<u>Trussell Trust & JRF, 2024</u>). The standard allowance should always meet this essentials guarantee, and any deductions should not be allowed to reduce support below the essentials guarantee (<u>Trussell Trust & JRF, 2024</u>).

Additional cost-of-living payments will be paid to eligible households

In 2023/24, up to £900 will be paid for those receiving UC, income-based job seekers allowance, income-related employment and support allowance, income support, pension credit, working tax credit and child tax credit. Fortunately, these payments will not affect the benefit cap or impact any existing benefits a household receives. Eligible households will receive three cost-of-living payments of £301, £300 and £299.

(Department for Work and Pensions, 2023)



The cost-of-living crisis has led to high inflation prices and the increased prices for essential goods. According to a report by the JRF, between October and November 2022, 7.2 million people (62%) in the bottom 40% of income were going without essentials (<u>Earwaker, 2022</u>). As a result, some people are experiencing hunger, skipping means, unable to keep their homes warm, and falling behind on household bills (<u>Earwaker, 2022</u>).

In comparison, in May 2022, the number of people in the bottom 40% of income going without essentials was below 7 million (<u>Earwaker</u>, 2022).

Moreover, 67% of households in the lowest 20% of income went without at least one essential in May 2022. By October and November 2022, this had risen to 75%, with those in the lowest 20% of income either going without essentials, or experiencing food insecurity (<u>Earwaker, 2022</u>). Since May 2022, the number of people going without essentials has increased, despite the support provided through cost-of-living payments, the energy cap, and support scheme (<u>Earwaker, 2022</u>).

Those most vulnerable to falling behind on bills and going without essentials include disabled people, those receiving UC, those in private rented accommodation, young adults, and individuals from black, Asian, and mixed ethnicity households (<u>Earwaker</u>, 2022).

There is a notable resemblance between this list and the demographics of families and children more likely to become involved with the care system. Specifically, families at higher risk of involvement with the care system are those in social housing, those without home ownership, those with greater health or disability deprivation, black and mixed-race families, larger families, and single-parent households (ONS, 2022a; see The Context of Children's Social Care).

Those most likely to fall behind on bills, go without essentials, and become known to the care system are all impacted by the social security net designed to support them. Despite the recent 10.1% rise in benefits in April 2023 and the 6.7% rise in April 2024; current benefit levels remain insufficient to cover essential costs (Earwaker, 2022; Trussell Trust & JRF, 2024). Even with the cost-of-living payments, over 2 million low-income households are in debt, having borrowed money or used credit cards to pay for essential bills, such as rent (Earwaker, 2022).

As the cost-of-living crisis is expected to persist, more children are at risk of falling into deeper poverty (<u>Barnardo's, 2022</u>). The cost-of-living payments offer only a temporary solution for those most vulnerable to deprivation and poverty, with no plans to extend them beyond the final payment in February 2024. While these payments were a step in the right direction, they cannot fully mitigate the effects of debt, the legacy of the benefits freeze, and the ongoing fraying of the social net that millions of families and children in poverty depend on. The UC is failing to protect those most vulnerable to poverty (<u>Earwaker, 2022</u>).

Policies must prioritise addressing the impact of the cost-of-living crisis on those most at risk. The government has announced plans to "reward work, reform welfare, and grow the economy", including uprating benefits by 6.7%, increasing pensions, and raising local housing allowances from April 2024 (HM Government, 2023). Additional measures include a rise in the national minimum wage and a reduction in national insurance. These increases are designed to help those struggling with the cost-of-living crisis, as they are aligned with the Customers Prices Index (6.7%).

However, the Customer Prices Index does not fully reflect the extent of the current cost-of-living crisis, but rather serves as a tool for policymakers to target inflation (<u>Cuffe, 2023</u>). The Customers Prices Index is not an effective measure of the cost-of-living during the crisis. From the 12 months to September 2023, the Customers Price Index recorded an inflation rate of 6.7%, while the Households Price Index found an inflation rate of 8.2% (<u>ONS, 2023c</u>).

The Households Price Index is a matrix that shows the impact of changing prices and costs across different population subgroups (ONS, 2023c), contrasting with the Customer Price Index, which reflects "how the prices of goods and services consumed by all households in the UK change over time" (ONS, 2023c, pp. 3).

While the Households Price Index is designed to complement the Customer Prices Index (ONS, 2023c), it often provides a clearer picture of the ongoing cost-of-living crisis (Cuffe, 2023).

Although the two indices may report similar inflation rates at times, the Customer Price Index has underestimated inflation during the cost-of-living crisis (Royal Statistical Society, 2023). The Household Price Index can better capture differences in household costs across various income groups. For example, between July and September 2023, annual inflation rates for low-income households (8.2%) and high-income households (8.3%) were quite similar (ONS, 2023c).

However, in October 2022, the inflation rate for low-income households (13.5%) was significantly higher than high-income households (11.5%; ONS, 2023c) due to rising electricity, gas, and fuel prices (ONS, 2023c). Meanwhile, higher mortgage interest payments contributed to higher inflation in higher-income homes (ONS, 2023c). The Customer Price Index gives less weight to the spending patterns of lower-income households, who allocate a larger portion of their income to essentials like food, fuel, and energy (Cuffe, 2023).

Raising benefits in line with the Households Cost Index (8.2%; ONS, 2023c) would be beneficial. This index better reflects household costs and the price of essentials, ensuring people can afford basic necessities even after deductions. The basic rate of UC should allow individuals to meet essential costs, even after deductions (Earwaker, 2022). Uplifting UC by £20 could significantly reduce child poverty, with estimates suggesting it would have a 40% greater impact on poverty reduction than recent changes to UK work allowances and taper rates (Ray-Chaudhuri et al., 2023). The changes in work allowances and taper rates do not benefit households without work (Ray-Chaudhuri et al., 2023).



Health deprivation, disability, and the care system

According to the ONS (2022a), education and health were the largest areas of deprivation for children entering care compared to those not in care. Health and disability deprivation refers to a household in which any of its members has a long-term health problem, or their health is classified as "bad" or "very bad" (ONS, 2022a). Based on the 2011 census, nearly half (49%) of children entering care were living in a household affected by health and disability deprivation, making it the most significant form of recorded deprivation among children entering the care system (ONS, 2022a).

What is the relationship between health and poverty?

Child Poverty is a key determinant of health inequalities (McCabe et al., 2024; Pearce et al., 2019). A recent analysis of the impact of child poverty on health outcomes and inequalities found that greater reductions in child poverty were associated with improvements in health outcomes, and reductions in health inequalities, including infant deaths, children entering care, hospital admissions for childhood nutritional anaemia, and childhood emergency hospital admissions (McCabe et al., 2024). Reducing child poverty by 35% between 2024 and 2033 is estimated to reduce the number of children entering care by 4, 694 (McCabe et al., 2024).

In England, health and deprivation exist on a social gradient (<u>Williams et al., 2022</u>), with a systematic relationship between deprivation and health outcomes (<u>Williams et al., 2022</u>). Specifically, individuals in the most deprived areas of England experience poorer health and have lower life expectancy compared to those living in the least deprived areas (<u>ONS, 2022b</u>). For example, between 2018 and 2020, the healthy life expectancy at birth for females in the least deprived areas (70.7 years) was nearly 20 years longer than those in the most deprived areas (51.9 years; <u>ONS, 2022b</u>).

Additionally, an analysis of NHS data found that those in the most deprived households were 57% more likely to suffer from a serious mental illness (<u>Baker</u>, 2019). The same analysis revealed significant percentage gaps for other health conditions between the most and least deprived households, including, chronic lung disease (58%), obesity (51%), diabetes (45%), epilepsy (32%), and peripheral arterial disease (31%; <u>Baker</u>, 2019).



Deprivation gaps in England vary across regions (<u>Baker, 2019</u>), and are influenced by a range of health inequalities and broader determinants of health, including those listed below:

- Access to care and quality of care: While the inequality gap is narrowing in some areas of healthcare, those in the most deprived areas still receive poorer quality NHS care and experience poorer health outcomes compared to those in the least deprived areas (<u>Quality Watch, n.d</u>). Specifically, individuals in the most deprived areas face greater difficulty in securing GP appointments, longer waiting times in A&E departments, and lower recovery rates in IAPT services (<u>Quality Watch, n.d</u>).
- Region: Poverty is the primary driver of inequality between children in the North of England and the rest of the country (<u>Barnes et al., 2023</u>). The rising cost-of-living is expected to lead to both immediate and long-term negative health outcomes (<u>Barnes et al., 2023</u>).
- Behavioural risks to health: Lower income influences health-related behaviour, such as smoking and poor diet, which contribute to ill health and premature death (<u>Griggs & Walker, 2008</u>).
- Income: Poverty increases the risk of both physical and mental health problems. In the UK, it is estimated that over 600,000 disabled people live on £10 or less per week for food and other expenses (<u>JRF, 2022</u>). Additionally, more than half of these individuals experience anxiety and depression due to financial concerns (<u>JRF, 2022</u>).
- Food insecurity: In 2021/2022, food insecurity affected 15% of people in the UK (<u>Francis-Devine</u>, 2023). Between October 2022 and January 2023, a survey by the Food Standards Agency (<u>FSA</u>, 2023) revealed that food insecurity had risen to 25% in England, Wales, and Northern Ireland. Food insecurity impacts both physical and mental health. Notably, 26% of parents struggling to provide sufficient food due to the cost-of-living crisis, reported that their children's mental health has worsened as a result (<u>Barnardos</u>, 2022).
- Quality of housing: Poor-quality and overcrowded housing has been linked to physical health problems, such as respiratory issues, and mental health problems, such as depression (<u>Williams et al., 2022</u>).
- Access to quality green space: While access to quality green space supports well-being, green spaces are not evenly distributed across England (The Countryside Charity, 2022). Northern England has fewer local green spaces compared to Midlands or the South of England (The Countryside Charity, 2022). The most deprived areas and ethnically diverse communities, which are more likely to experience poorer health outcomes, are less likely to have access to local green spaces (Mell & Whitten, 2022).
- Education: Children from lower-income households are more likely to have SEN and lower educational aspirations compared to their more affluent



peers (<u>Griggs & Walker, 2008</u>). This disparity affects academic success, future employment and overall health (<u>Griggs & Walker, 2008</u>). For example, individuals with a university degree are estimated to live at least five years longer than those with lower levels of education. (<u>Williams et al., 2022</u>)

- Employment, exposure to hazards at work, and job security: Children from lower-income households are more likely to be unemployed and work in unskilled and lower-paid jobs, compared to their more affluent peers (Griggs & Walker, 2008). Unemployment has negative consequences for mental and physical health, including lower life expectancy (Williams et al., 2022).
- Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), trauma, and relationships: Positive relationships with parents or guardians can help mitigate the negative effects of poverty. However, individuals with ACEs are three times more likely to live in poverty and these experiences can have a cumulative negative impact on physical and mental health (Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, 2022). ACEs are linked to a range of health issues, including chronic illness, insomnia. contractions of sexually transmitted diseases, obesity. gastrointestinal autoimmune and diseases. pulmonary disease. cardiovascular disease, and cancer (Zarse et al., 2019).
- Race: In general, Pakistani, Bangladeshi, and Black Caribbean individuals experience higher levels of ill-health compared to their white counterparts, and may have less access to preventative care (Watt et al., 2022). While Pakistani and Bangladeshi groups in England do not have a higher likelihood of cardiovascular disease compared to the white population, they do have the highest rates of the condition (Watt et al., 2022). Additionally, Pakistani and Bangladeshi groups are less likely to be diagnosed with atrial fibrillation a risk factor for cardiovascular disease resulting in reduced access to preventative primary care (Watt et al., 2022).
- Gender: In the most deprived areas, both males and females live fewer years and experience more of those years in poorer health (<u>Watt et al. 2022</u>). While females generally have a greater life expectancy than males, they are expected to spend a significantly larger portion of their lives in poor health (52%; <u>Watt et al., 2022</u>). Moreover, transgender individuals are more likely to experience poorer mental health, and younger transgender and non-binary people are more likely to experience long-term disabilities or illnesses (<u>Murray, 2022</u>).
- Sexuality: LGBTQI+ individuals often encounter persistent heterosexist and heteronormative barriers in accessing care, leading to poorer diagnosis and treatment experiences compared to cis-heterosexual individuals (<u>McDermott</u> <u>et al., 2021</u>).



Differences in health inequalities affect people's access to quality care. Health inequalities start in childhood and accumulate over time (<u>Watt et al., 2022</u>). Both indirect and direct influences from these inequalities contribute to a cumulative impact, leading to poorer health outcomes, known as 'allostatic load' (<u>Watt et al., 2022</u>). The 'allostatic load' associated with factors such as poverty, significantly contributes to poorer health outcomes for individuals from more deprived backgrounds (RCPCH, 2022; <u>Watt et al., 2022</u>).

What is the relationship between health/disability, poverty and looked-after children?

Disabled children entering the care system often do so for similar reasons as non-disabled children, with neglect being the most common cause (Kelly et al., 2016). A study conducted in Northern Ireland revealed that 70% of disabled looked-after children entered care due to neglect, which frequently results from a combination of emotional abuse (53%) and parental struggles (53%; Kelly et al., 2016).

The same study revealed that a majority of disabled looked-after children (64%) had SEN compared to the general looked-after children population (26%; Kelly et al., 2016). Among these disabled looked-after children, 64% had multiple conditions, including autism and/or intellectual disabilities (Kelly et al., 2016).

According to the DfE (2023), the most common disabilities among looked-after children are social and behavioural (50%), and mental health issues (30%). In 2021-22, the DfE reported that 57.4% of looked-after children had SEN, compared to 48.6% children in need with SEN, and 16.3% of the general population with SEN (DfE, 2024). Autism was the most prevalent condition, affecting 50% of looked-after children (DfE, 2024).

Furthermore, children in the welfare system are nearly four times (49%) more likely to experience any mental disorder compared to the general population (<u>Bronsard et al., 2016</u>). These children are more likely to have ADHD (11%), PTSD (4%), anxiety disorders (18%), depressive disorders (11%), and conduct disorders (20%) compared to the general population (<u>Bronsard et al., 2016</u>).

Overall, looked-after children are more likely to report educational or neurodevelopmental issues compared to both disadvantaged and those residing in private family homes (<u>Ford et al., 2007</u>). While disabled and non-disabled children may share similar experiences, several factors contribute to disabled children entering the care system, <u>including</u>:

- Parental Factors
 - Poor adjustment
 - Financial hardship and limited access to economic resources (e.g., poverty and/or specialised equipment and therapy)
 - Limited access to personal social resources
 - Social isolation
 - Parental mental or physical disability



- Parental illness
- Single parenthood
- Child Factors
 - Needs of other siblings
 - High level of needs
 - Challenging behaviour
 - Violent behaviour

All of these factors can lead to a breakdown in parental capacity (<u>Kelly et al., 2016</u>). These factors are important when examining the circumstances that lead to disabled children entering care.

We are focusing on the impact of poverty. However, understanding the effect of poverty on disabled looked-after children is constrained by three main issues in the literature:

- a) Lack of clear definition of disability: While the Equality Act (2010), provides a definition of disability, identifying and recording a child as disabled within the care system depends on whether the disability was the primary reason for removing the child from the family home, the extent of LA's information on a child's disability, and the social worker's opinion.
- b) Recording based on 'need' code: A child's disability is only recorded based on a 'need' code. Disabled children are usually taken into care due to neglect and/or abuse, which is reported rather than the child's disability itself. This leads to the underrepresentation of disabled looked-after children in statistics and the overall literature.
- c) Limited data sources: In England and Wales, statistics are based on information from LAs and household surveys. These provide a 'restricted view' of the inequalities and issues faced by disabled looked-after children. LAs' data is constrained by a lack of resources and a focus on primary 'need'based interventions, and neither method actively aims to measure disabled looked-after children.

(Gledhilll-Baker, 2022)

These constraints and the literature gap create a lack of clarity regarding the relationship between health/disability, poverty and looked-after children. However, it is evident that disabled individuals experience a higher poverty rate (29%) compared to non-disabled individuals (9%), and are more likely to experience very deep poverty (JRF, 2023a).



Moreover, there is a clear bidirectional relationship between poverty and health/disability (<u>Griggs and Walker, 2008</u>). Poverty increases the risk of poor health and unmet healthcare needs for disabled people, even when excluding other factors such as education (<u>WHO, 2023</u>).

While poverty does not directly cause disease, it affects environmental (e.g., housing and community), social (e.g., discrimination), and educational (e.g., access to educational resources) factors, which in turn constrain the prevention and management of diseases and conditions (<u>AAFP, 2021</u>). For example, children from lower-income families are more likely to experience health problems which are further exacerbated by health inequalities (<u>Griggs and Walker, 2008</u>).

As previously discussed, child poverty rates and neighbourhood deprivation have been linked to children entering care (<u>Bennett et al., 2022</u>; <u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>). The health and disabilities of children entering care are affected by these environmental and social inequalities.

Currently, the government offers the following for families with disabled children:

- Extra child credit for each disabled child
- Disability Living Allowance for children under 16
- Personal Independence Payment for children 16 and over
- Adult Disability Payment (Scotland)
- Family fund grants,
- Disabled Facilities Grant
- Carer's Allowance, and
- Short Break Services

(HM Government <u>n.dc</u>; <u>n.dd</u>)

Moreover, the <u>SEND and Alternative Provision Improvement plan</u> committed to investing £400 million into LAs 'high-need' budgets, with the overall high-needs budget set to raise to £10.1 billion in 2023/24 (<u>HM Government, 2023</u>). Specifically, looked-after disabled children should be provided with a care plan and a personal education plan.

We recommend the UK government address the social determinants affecting mental and physical health. Alleviating health inequalities and addressing the broader social determinants, such as removing the two-child limit and benefit cap, would likely lead to improvements in child health and health inequalities (McCabe et al., 2024).

Poverty disproportionately affects disabled people, compared to those who are not disabled (JRF, 2023a). Disabled working-age adults are almost twice as likely to experience poverty compared to their non-disabled counterparts (JRF, 2023a). Furthermore, poverty costs £4.8 billion per year for inpatient care alone, and is estimated to cost the NHS and social care systems £29 billion per year (Fodgen et al., 2022; see <u>Asaria et al., 2016</u> and <u>JRF, 2016</u>). Addressing the social determinants that affect health and poverty is not only a compassionate action, but also an economic advantage.



To tackle these social determinants, we recommend:

- 1. Consistent use of the Equality Act (2010) definition of disability in social care data and implementation.
- 2. Consistent data collection for disabled looked-after children beyond the primary need-based approach used in social care.
- 3. Research investigating how health inequalities and poverty affect disabled looked-after children to fill the literature gap.
- 4. Implementation of strategies to address poverty (see Deprivation, policy, and the fraying support of the state).

Race & Ethnicity

There is a social gradient in the UK between children entering care and deprivation, meaning that increases or decreases in deprivation correspond to the number of children entering care. Increases in child poverty rates (<u>Bennett et al., 2022</u>), deprivation (<u>Elliott et al., 2019</u>), and neighbourhood deprivation (<u>Bywaters et al., 2020</u>) are linked to a rise in children receiving out-of-home care and child protection concerns/orders.

However, many intersectional factors affect families' and children's experiences with social services, including gender, race, ethnicity, disability, sexuality, poverty, and religion. Ethnicity and deprivation are the two largest determinants that drive inequalities in social care interventions (<u>Bywaters et al., 2014</u>). In the UK, there are racial disparities in deprivation, social care, and the interventions families receive (e.g., child protection orders and out-of-home care).

Before controlling for deprivation, data suggests that mixed-heritage children have the highest rates of children in need, child protection orders, and looked-after children, followed by black, white and then Asian children (<u>Bywaters et al., 2014</u>). Without considering deprivation, black children are overrepresented and Asian children are underrepresented in data for social care interventions.

After controlling for deprivation, it is not black children but rather white and mixed-heritage children who are overrepresented in all three intervention categories: children in need, child protection orders, and looked-after children (Bywaters et al., 2014). For example, compared to White-British children, mixed-heritage children have three times higher rates of children in need, 2.8 times higher rates of child protection orders, and 2.6 higher rates of looked-after children (Webb et al., 2020). Black children are overrepresented in social care, because they are more likely to live in the most deprived areas compared to white children (Bywaters et al., 2014).



Asian children are still underrepresented in the data after controlling for deprivation. The disparity between interventions for white and Asian children widens further, with Asian children receiving three times fewer child protection orders and six times fewer looked-after children (Bywaters et al., 2014).

The underrepresentation of black and Asian children on child protection orders and as looked-after children indicates inequality within the care system. On the contrary, the shift in race representation after controlling for deprivation suggests profound racial and socio-economic inequities within the structure of the social care system (Bywaters et al., 2016).

Bywaters and CWIP (2020) investigated 18 LAs in England to examine inequalities in child welfare interventions. The study found that every ethnic sub-category (except black other) living in the most deprived areas has a higher chance of social service interventions compared to less deprived areas (Bywaters et al., 2019). Minority ethnic groups in England are more likely to experience socio-economic hardship and live in deprived neighbourhoods (Bywaters & CWIP, 2020). Around three-quarters of black children, 70% of Pakistani children, under 80% of Bangladeshi children, 45% of Asian-Indian children, 44% of Chinese children, and only 47% of White-British children lived in the most deprived 40% of neighbourhoods (Bywaters & CWIP, 2020).

All children from the most disadvantaged areas are overrepresented in the data for child welfare interventions (<u>Bywaters et al., 2014</u>). However, when socio-economic disadvantage is accounted for, all minority groups have lower rates of child welfare interventions (<u>Bywaters & CWIP</u>, 2020).

After accounting for deprivation, white children in the most deprived neighbourhoods have higher rates of child protection plans and looked-after children compared to black children (except Caribbean-heritage children; (<u>Bywaters & CWIP</u>, 2020). In less deprived neighbourhoods, this pattern is not maintained, and all black sub-categories have higher child welfare intervention rates than White-British children (<u>Bywaters & CWIP</u>, 2020).

This does not imply that black children have greater needs than those from more deprived neighbourhoods, but rather that there is a failure to provide services to children in need of them (Bywaters & CWIP, 2020).

There is a social gradient between deprivation and child welfare interventions for White-British children, mixed heritage, Asian-Pakistani, Black-African, and Black-Caribbean children (Webb et al., 2020). However, this gradient has less influence on child welfare intervention rates for Indian, Bangladeshi and non-Caribbean Black children (Webb et al., 2020). Ethnic inequalities affecting the rates of child welfare interventions are heavily influenced by socio-economic factors (Bywaters & CWIP, 2020).

To address these inequalities, we recommend the following research considerations and strategies:

- 1. Broaden ethnic categories: Most research and documents use five broad ethnic categories: white, Asian, mixed, black or other. These categories limit the interpretation of data and do not capture the different treatment families may receive, or the reasons individuals choose to identify with each category (Bywaters et al., 2019). Where possible, service users should self-identify their ethnicity within a wider range of categories. This will give a clearer picture of ethnicity when analysing data for research (Bywaters et al., 2019).
- 2. Expand parental data collection: There is limited data on parental factors, including socio-economic status, which can be crucial for assessing the relationship between race, looked-after children, and poverty (<u>Bywaters et al., 2019</u>). LA's and the social care system should collect more comprehensive information on parental data and families' socio-economic positions to better recognise needs and allocate resources accordingly.
- 3. Improve understanding of race and deprivation: A better understanding of rates of looked-after children in relation to race and deprivation is needed. After controlling for deprivation, the rates of looked-after children and child protection orders change, suggesting structural racial and class inequalities (Bywaters et al., 2016). While the existing evidence provides a preliminary understanding, more research is needed to explore differences in interventions and outcomes with consideration to race and poverty, avoiding simplistic assumptions about parenting and family patterns (Bywaters et al., 2016).
- 4. Establish clear anti-poverty and anti-racist practices: There must be clear guidelines for anti-poverty and anti-racist practices for LAs and social workers. This should include evidence of critical engagement with issues of poverty and race, and how LA's can address and mitigate inequalities (Webb et al., 2020).

Recommendations

Policy

- 1. Abuse and neglect: There is an over-reliance on the toxic trio to explain abuse and neglect in relation to poverty and the welfare system (Skinner et al., 2023). While the toxic trio is an important factor, its dominance in language, research, and social care is unhelpful. The traits of the toxic trio often overshadow other significant factors, including racism, poverty, income, employment and housing deprivation (Skinner et al., 2023). There must be a shift in the government's approach to poverty. Poverty should no longer be seen merely as a contextual factor but as a driving force behind children entering care. LAs and the social care system need to pay more attention to these factors and their influence on abuse, neglect, and child welfare interventions. The lack of resources in social work has led to a risk-averse strategy, meaning the social and economic factors contributing to abuse and neglect are not adequately addressed (Morris et al., 2018). Therefore, greater economic support and better resources, such as housing and food, are essential for those in need.
- 2. Education: Children exposed to higher levels of neighbourhood and school poverty and deprivation tend to have lower educational attainment (Nieuwenhuis et al., 2021). Gaps in cognitive, social, and emotional development can emerge as early as age 3 and persist into adolescence (Goodman & Greqq, 2010). Although looked-after children often have lower educational attainment compared to their peers, care itself can act as a protective factor (Luke & O'Higgins, 2018). However, it is crucial to stop unregulated education, and ensure LAs the power place looked-after children in schools that can meet their needs. Also, strategies must be developed to enhance care leavers' opportunities beyond social care, and prevent placement breakdowns (House of Commons Education Committee, 2022; Luke & O'Higgins, 2018; O'Sulllivan & Westerman, 2007; Thompson, 2022).

The government and LAs must implement strategies to improve parental and child educational aspirations, encourage parents reading to their child at a young age, and provide home educational resources for less affluent families. Strategies should also address the effects of neighbourhood deprivation on children from impoverished areas (Goodman & Gregg, 2010; Luke & O'Higgins, 2018). Family Hubs and Start for Life Programs can offer holistic interventions to improve children's educational, physical, emotional, cognitive, and social outcomes (HM Government, 2022). The previous government had proposed an evaluation and research of these programmes (2022), which is essential to determine their effectiveness in reducing educational inequalities. A thorough analysis of the impact these services

have on poverty and education is needed, particularly for families living in deprivation, children in need, and looked-after children.

3. Deprivation, policy, and the fraying support of the state: Punitive policies such as the two-child limit and the benefits cap should be abolished. These policies push more families into further poverty and disproportionately affect low-paid workers, renters, single parents, and minority groups (CPAG, 2022; Goddard, 2022; Stewart et al., 2022). Over 50 organisations have criticised these policies for their harmful impact on families and children living in poverty (Weaver, 2023). Removing these unjust policies would help reduce the number of children in poverty (Tucker, 2019).

The cost-of-living crisis and rising inflation have driven more children into poverty (<u>Francis-Devine</u>, 2023) and put many at risk of falling into deeper poverty (<u>Barnardo's</u>, 2022). Vulnerable families are accumulating debt, falling behind on bills, and struggling to afford essentials (<u>Earwaker</u>, 2022). Despite a 10.1% increase in benefits, this is still insufficient to cover essentials (<u>Earwaker</u>, 2022).

The government's cost-of-living payments provide only a temporary relief, with the final payments scheduled for February 2024 and plans to establish additional cost-of-living payments. Long-term benefit uplifts are necessary to achieve lasting reductions in poverty.

The previous government has proposed measures to "reward work, reform welfare, and grow the economy", including a 6.7% rise in benefits, increases to pensions and local housing allowances starting in April 2024 (HM Government, 2023). Other measures included an increase in national wage and decrease in national insurance. While these changes may help those struggling with the cost-of-living crisis, aligning benefits with the Customers Prices Index (6.7%) does not fully account for the severity of the crisis (Cuffe, 2023). A more appropriate measure would be the Households Cost Index (8.2%; ONS, 2023c), which better reflects household costs and the costs of essentials.

Furthermore, additional cost-of-living payments should be means-tested to ensure they reach the most deprived (<u>Ray-Chaudhuri et al., 2023</u>). Raising UC by £20 could lift many children out of poverty (<u>Action for Children, 2023b</u>).

An essentials-guarantee should also be integrated into UC policy to address maternal deprivation and support households reliant on UC (<u>Trussell Trust & JRF, 2024</u>). At minimum, the government should reduce debt deductions to 15% (<u>Tims & Wright, 2024</u>). For greater impact, the government should set a legal minimum for UC based on the essentials guarantee. The standard allowance should always meet this essentials guarantee, and ensure that no deductions bring support below the essentials guarantee (<u>Trussell Trust & JRF, 2024</u>).

4. Health deprivation, disability, and the care system: A clear definition of disability is needed. The Equality Act 2010 provides this definition, which should be applied by social workers when identifying and recording disabilities, regardless of whether disability is the primary reason for the child's removal from the family home (Gledhilll-Baker, 2022). Inadequate documentation has led to the underrepresentation and a limited understanding of disabled looked-after children (Gledhilll-Baker, 2022). Proper recording will enable a more comprehensive view of disabled looked-after children, and allow for more tailored strategies and interventions to meet their needs.

The government must address the social determinants impacting mental and physical health, with a focus on alleviating health inequalities and the wider social determinants. The social determinants include access to and quality of care, behavioural health risks, deprivation, poverty, food insecurity, housing quality, access to green spaces, education, employment, workplace hazards, job security, trauma, and the effects of race, gender, and sexuality (<u>Griggs and Walker, 2008</u>; <u>Williams et al., 2022</u>).

- 5. Race and Ethnicity: The government should implement clear guidelines on anti-poverty and anti-racist practices for LAs and social workers, including evidence of critical engagement with issues of poverty, race, and how LA's reproduce inequalities (Webb et al., 2020).
- 6. Overall: There needs to be greater acknowledgement of the structural inequalities impacting children's lives. Poverty should be documented effectively in records related to children's experiences in social care, child welfare interventions, education, and cases of abuse and neglect. It is essential to better recognise the intersectional and contextual factors that are often overlooked with the care system. Acknowledging factors such as poverty and race will provide a clearer understanding of their impact on looked-after children and those living in poverty.

The children's social care system requires recalibration to provide more robust support and resources (e.g., housing and food support) to those who need these, rather than relying on a 'postcode lottery'. The welfare of a child should be determined by their individual needs, rather than the level of deprivation in their neighbourhood.

Research

- 1. Abuse and neglect: More research is needed to explore the social and economic factors such as racism, poverty, income, employment, and housing that contribute to abuse and neglect.
- 2. Education: There is a literature gap regarding the impact of educational deprivation on the likelihood of children entering care. While existing research covers the effects of poverty on education, there is insufficient evidence on how educational deprivation specifically influences child welfare interventions. Addressing this gap is crucial to understanding and mitigating the effects of educational deprivation on child welfare interventions.
- 3. Deprivation, policy, and the fraying support of the state: There is a research gap concerning the link between the ongoing cost-of-living crisis and children entering care. While some studies suggest a connection between poverty and children entering care, this research is limited (Bennet et al., 2022; Bywaters et al., 2020; Elliott et al., 2019). The cost-of-living crisis will not only impact families but also strain the care system itself. A further reduction in resources for the care system will further strain its resources, and the support it can offer to looked-after children and children in need. Further research is necessary to examine how the cost-of-living crisis affects children in need, looked-after children, and the likelihood of children entering care.
- 4. Health deprivation, disability, and the care system: The relationship between health/disability, poverty and looked-after children is not clear. Also, there is a literature gap concerning how health inequalities and poverty specifically affect disabled looked-after children.
- 5. Race and Ethnicity: Data handling concerning race and ethnicity needs improvement. We recommend moving away from using the four broad ethnic categories and adopting a wider range of categories to allow services users to self-identify where possible (Bywaters et al., 2019). Collecting more detailed data on race, parental socio-economic factors, looked-after children, and poverty is also crucial (Bywaters et al., 2019). This will provide a clearer understanding of ethnicity in research analyses, which can then be used to better identify needs and allocate resources effectively.

A better understanding is needed of rates of looked-after children in relation to race and deprivation. After controlling for deprivation, variations in rates of looked-after children and child protection orders indicate structural racial and class inequalities (Bywaters et al., 2016).

While existing evidence provides a preliminary understanding, more research is required to examine differences in interventions and outcomes with respect to race and poverty, avoiding simplistic assumptions about parenting and family patterns (Bywaters et al., 2016).



Conclusion

This research project sought to understand the relationship between poverty and the likelihood of children entering care. Despite research limitations in literature, it appears to be a relationship between poverty and children entering care. The amount of children entering care has been related to rising rates of child poverty (Bennett et al., 2020), neighbourhood deprivation (Bywaters et al., 2020), and deprivation (Elliott et al., 2019). Factors such as abuse, neglect, education deprivation, policy issues, health deprivation, race, ethnicity, and gender all contribute to the relationship between children entering care and child poverty. These factors should not be seen as contextual, but as integral factors that contribute to the relationship between child poverty and children entering care. Each factor contributes to the relationship between poverty and children entering care, as it perpetuates the cycle of poverty.

Based on the findings, we recommend further research on:

- The social and economic factors contributing to abuse and neglect
- The impact of educational and health deprivation on the likelihood of children entering care
- The effects of the cost-of-living crisis on the number of children entering care
- The relationship between race, deprivation, and rates of looked-after children

Additionally, we propose several policy changes, including:

- Ending over-reliance on the toxic trio model to explain abuse and neglect
- Acknowledging poverty as a significant factor in the relationship between poverty and children entering care
- Abolishing the two-child limit and benefits cap
- Introducing essentials guarantee for UC
- Implementing long-term solutions to the cost-of-living crisis
- Adjusting benefits in line with the Households Cost Index
- Developing strategies to enhance parental and child educational aspirations,
- Adopting a more consistent definition of disability
- Addressing the social determinants impacting physical and mental health
- Implementing clear anti-poverty and anti-racist policies within the care system
- Providing better resources for the children's social care system
- Acknowledging and addressing the structural inequalities affecting children's lives

These recommendations aim to raise awareness on child poverty, enhance understanding of its link to children entering care, improve the children's social care system, and serve as a valuable resource for developing more equitable and effective policies.



References

Action for Children. (2023a). All worked out? The limits of work as a route out of poverty and hardship. Action for Children.

https://media.actionforchildren.org.uk/documents/All Worked Out report Feb 2 023.pdf

Action for Children. (2023b). Where is child poverty increasing in the UK. Action for Children. https://www.actionforchildren.org.uk/blog/where-is-child-poverty-increasing-in-the-

uk/#:~:text=During%20the%20pandemic%2C%20400%2C000%20children,by%20 %C2%A320%20a%20week

American Academy of Family Physicians. (2021). *Poverty and health – The family medicine perspective (position paper)* [Position Statement]. American Academy of Family Physicians. https://www.aafp.org/about/policies/all/poverty-health.html

Asaria, M., Doran, T., & Cookson, R. (2016). The costs of inequality: whole-population modelling study of lifetime inpatient hospital costs in the English National Health Service by level of neighbourhood deprivation. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 70(10), 990-996. https://jech.bmj.com/content/70/10/990.short

Baker, C. (2019). *Health inequalities: Income deprivation and north/south divides.* House of Common Library. https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/health-inequalities-income-deprivation-and-north-south-divides/

Barnardo's. (2022). At what cost? The impact of the cost-of-living crisis on children and young people. Barnardo's.

https://www.barnardos.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-

10/At%20what%20cost impact%20of%20cost%20of%20living%20final%20report .pdf

Barnes, A. J. E., Snell, C. J., Bailey, A., Loopstra, R., Cheetham, M., Morris, S., Power, M., Davies, H., Scott, M., Taylor-Robinson, D., & Pickett, K. (2023). *APPG Child of the North - Child Poverty and the Cost of Living Crisis. A report prepared for the APPG Child of the North*. Northern Health Sciences Alliance.

https://www.thenhsa.co.uk/app/uploads/2023/01/COTN-APPG.pdf

Become. (2022, August 12). How the cost of living crisis could lead to more children in care. https://becomecharity.org.uk/the-cost-of-living-crisis-and-its-devastating-impact-on-children-in-care/

Bennett, D. L., Schlüter, D. K., Melis, G., Bywaters, P., Alexiou, A., Barr, B., Wickham, S., & Taylor-Robinson, D. (2022). Child poverty and children entering care in England, 2015–20: a longitudinal ecological study at the local area level. *The Lancet Public Health*, 7(6), 496-503.

https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(22)00065-2/fulltext



Bramley, G., Hirsch, D., Litterwood, M., & Watkins, D. (2016). *Counting the cost of UK poverty*. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/counting-cost-uk-poverty

Brandon, M., Glaser, D., Maguire, S., McCrory, E., Lushey, C., & Ward, H. (2014). *Miss opportunities: Indicators of neglect – what is ignored, why, and what can be done?* Department for Education.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/379747/RR404_-

Indicators of neglect missed opportunities.pdf

Bronsard, G., Alessandrini, M., Fond, G., Loundou, A., Auquier, P., Tordjman, S., & Boyer, L. (2016). The prevalence of mental disorders among children and adolescents in the child welfare system: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine*, *95*(7).

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26886603/

Brown, T. (2024). *Child poverty: Statistics, causes and the UK's policy response.* House of Lords Library. https://lordslibrary.parliament.uk/child-poverty-statistics-causes-and-the-uks-policy-response/#fn-6

Bull, R., Miles, C., Newbury, E., Nichols, A., Weekes, T., & Wyld, G. (2023). *Hunger in the UK*. Trussel Trust. https://www.trussell.org.uk/publications/hunger-in-the-uk

Bywaters, P., Brady, G., Sparks, T., & Bos, E. (2014). Inequalities in child welfare intervention rates: The intersection of deprivation and identity. *Child & Family Social Work*, 21(4), 452-463.

https://irep.ntu.ac.uk/id/eprint/39014/1/1271108 Brady.pdf

Bywaters, P., Kwhali, J., Brady, G., Sparks, T., & Bos, E. (2016). Out of sight, out of mind: Ethnic inequalities in child protection and out-of-home care intervention rates. *British Journal of Social Work*, *47*(7), 1884-1902. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcw165

Bywaters, P., Scourfield, J., Webb, C., Morris, K., Featherstone, B., Brady, G., Jones, C., & Sparks, T. (2019). Paradoxical evidence on ethnic inequities in child welfare: Towards a research agenda. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *96*, 145-154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.11.042

Bywaters, P., & Child Welfare Inequalities Project. (2020). *The child welfare inequality project: Final report.* Child welfare Inequalities Project & Nuffield Foundation.

https://pure.hud.ac.uk/ws/files/21398145/CWIP Final Report.pdf Bywaters & CWIP

Bywaters, P., Scourfield, J., Jones, C., Sparks, T., Elliott, M., Hooper, J., McCartan, C., Shapira, M., & Daniel, B. (2020). Child welfare inequalities in the four nations of the UK. *Journal of Social Work*, *20*(2), 193-215.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017318793479



Bywaters, P., Skinner, G., Cooper, A., Kennedy, E., & Malik, A. (2022). *The relationship between poverty and child abuse and neglect: New evidence.* University of Huddersfield. https://www.nuffieldfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Full-report-relationship-between-poverty-child-abuse-and-neglect.pdf

Child Poverty and Action Group. (2024). *Child poverty reaches record high - failure to tackle it will be 'a betrayal of Britain's children'*. Child Poverty and Action Group. https://cpag.org.uk/news/child-poverty-reaches-record-high-failure-tackle-it-will-be-betrayal-britains-children

Child Poverty and Action Group. (2023). *Ending Child Poverty: why and how.* Child Poverty and Action Group. https://cpag.org.uk/news/ending-child-poverty-why-and-how

Child Poverty and Action Group. (2022). 'Its heart-breaking that I feel I cannot fully provide for my youngest without struggling' The impact of five years of the two-child policy. Child Poverty and Action Group. https://cpaq.org.uk/news/impact-five-years-two-child-limit-policy

Child Poverty and Action Group., the Church of England., & Benefit Changes & Bigger Families. (2022). The impact of five years of the two child limit. *Child Poverty and Action Group*. https://cpaq.org.uk/news/impact-five-years-two-child-limit-policy

Cooper, A. (2023). A crisis on our doorstep: The deepening impact of the cost-of-living crisis on children and young people in the UK. Barnardo's. https://cms.barnardos.org.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/crisis-on-our-doorstep-barnardos-report-march2023.pdf

Corlett, A., & Try, L. (2022). *Living standards outlook 2022*. Resolution Foundation. https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/app/uploads/2022/03/Living-Standards-Outlook-2022.pdf#page=56

Croxton, L. (2022, December 19). *Unregulated accommodation for 16-and 17-year-olds cannot be normalised*. Children and young people now.

https://www.cypnow.co.uk/blogs/article/unregulated-accommodation-for-16-and-17-year-olds-cannot-be-

normalised#:~:text=Since%202022%2C%20the%20government%20has,the%20las t%20five%2Dyear%20period.

Cuffe, R. (2023, December 4). *Benefits falling behind rising cost of living*. BBC Verify. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/67616610

Department for Work and Pensions. (2015). 2010 to 2015 government policy: welfare reform. Department for Work and Pensions.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2010-to-2015-government-policy-welfare-reform/2010-to-2015-government-policy-welfare-reform



Department for Work and Pensions. (2023). *Cost of Living Payment 2023 to 2024*. Department for Work Pensions. https://www.gov.uk/guidance/cost-of-living-payment#full-publication-update-history

Department for Education. (2015). *Guide to the children's homes regulations including quality standards*. Department for Education.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/463220/Guide to Children's Home Standards inc quality standards Version 1.17 FINAL.pdf

Department for Education. (2019). *Characteristics of children in need: 2018 to 2019*. Department for Education.

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/characteristics-of-children-in-need-2018-to-2019

Department for Education. (2023) *Special educational needs and disability: an analysis and summary of data sources.* Department of Education.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/66bdc2de3effd5b79ba490fd/Special educational needs and disability analysis and summary of data sources Aug24.pdf

Department for Education, (2024). *Special educational needs and dsiability: an analysis and summary of data sources.* Department for Education.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/1164690/Special educational needs and disability an analysis and summary of data sources.pdf

De Vries, R., Reeves, A., & Geiger, B. (2022). Social class bias in welfare sanctioning judgements: Experimental evidence from a nationally representative sample. *Social Policy & Administration*, *56*(5), 843-858. https://doi.org/10.1111/spol.12812

Earwaker, R. (2022). *Going under and without: JRF's cost of living tracker winter 2022/23.* Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

<u>file:///C:/Users/aj 19/Downloads/going under and without - jrfs cost of living tracker winter 2022 23%20(2).pdf</u>

Elliott, M. (2019). Child welfare inequalities in a time of rising numbers of children entering out-of-home care. *The British Journal of Social Work*, *50*(2), 581-597. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcz154

Featherstone, B., Gupta, A., Morris, K., & Warner, J. (2016). Let's stop feeding the risk monster: towards a social model of child protection'. *Families, relationships and societies*, 7(1), 7-22. https://doi.org/10.1332/204674316X14552878034622

Featherstone, B., Morris, K., Daniel, B., Bywaters, P., Brady, G., Bunting, L., Mason, W., & Mirza, N. (2019). Poverty, inequality, child abuse and neglect: Changing the conversation across the UK in child protection?. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *97*, 127-133.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.06.009



Fogden, R., Buck, D., Franklin, B., & Lewis, T. (2022). *Poverty and the health and care system: The role of data and partnership in bringing change.* The Kings Fund. https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/poverty-health-care-system-data-partnership

Font, S. A., & Maguire-Jack, K. (2020). It's not "Just poverty": Educational, social, and economic functioning among young adults exposed to childhood neglect, abuse, and poverty. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 101.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7027312/

Food Standards Agency. (2023). FSA's flagship survey shows food insecurity continues to rise. Food Standards Agency. https://www.food.gov.uk/news-alerts/news/fsas-flagship-survey-shows-food-insecurity-continues-to-rise

Ford, T., Vostanis, P., Meltzer, H., & Goodman, R. (2007). Psychiatric disorder among British children looked-after by local authorities: comparison with children living in private households. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 190(4), 319-325. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.106.025023

Foster, D. (2024). *An overview of child protective legislation in England* (HC No. 6787). House of Commons.

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN06787/SN06787.pdf

Francis-Devine, B. (2024). *Poverty in the UK: Statistics.* (HC No. 7096). House of Commons Library.

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN07096/SN07096.pdf

Gingerbread. (2018). Benefits cap inquiry: Gingerbread written submission to the Work and Pensions select committee. Gingerbread.

https://www.gingerbread.org.uk/our-work/policy-and-campaigns/research-publications/benefit-cap-inquiry-gingerbread-written-submission-work-pensions-select-committee/

Gledhill-Baker, H. (2022). *Marginalised and failed by policy makers: Looked-after disabled children*. Liverpool University, Interchange and National Youth Advocacy Service. https://www.nyas.net/support-us/policy-and-research/nyas-research/student-research-opportunities/

Goddard, J. (2022). *Universal Credit (Removal of two child limit) bill [HL] HL Bill of 7 2022-23*. House of Lords.

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/LLN-2022-0019/LLN-2022-0019.pdf

Goodman & Gregg. (2010). *Poorer children's educational attainment: how important are attitudes and behaviour?*. Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

https://www.educationandemployers.org/wp-

<u>content/uploads/2014/06/poorer children s educational attainment -</u> jrf full report1.pdf



Griggs, J., & Walker, R. (2008). *The costs of child poverty for individuals and society: a literature review.* The Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

https://lx.iriss.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/2301-child-poverty-costs.pdf

Harari, D., Bolton, P., Francis-Devine, B., & Keep, M. (2024). *Rising cost of living in the UK.* (HC No. 9428). House of Commons Library.

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9428/#:~:text=The%20cost%20of%20living%20increased,2023%20to%2010.4%25%20in%20February

HM Government. (2014, January). An evidence review of the drivers of child poverty for families in poverty now and for poor children growing up to be poor adults. HM Government.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/285389/Cm 8781 Child Poverty Evidence Review Print.pdf

HM Government (2022, August 8). *Family hubs and start for life programme guide*. HM Government.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/1096786/Family Hubs and Start for Life programme guide.pdf

HM Government. (2023, December 13). Low-income households to receive over £2 billion in further cost of living support. Department for Work and Pensions. https://www.gov.uk/government/news/low-income-households-to-receive-over-2-billion-in-further-cost-of-living-support

HM Government. (n.da). *Universal Credit*. HM Government. https://www.gov.uk/universal-credit/what-youll-get

HM Government. (n.db). *Benefit Cap*. HM Government. https://www.gov.uk/benefit-cap/benefit-cap-amounts

HM Government (n.dc). *Disability living allowance (DLA) for children*. HM Government. https://www.gov.uk/disability-living-allowance-children

HM Government (n.dd). *Help if you have a disabled child.* HM Government. https://www.gov.uk/help-for-disabled-child/print

HM Revenue & Customs. (2024, February 24). Tax Credits, Child Benefit and Guardian's Allowance - rates and allowances.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rates-and-allowances-tax-credits-child-benefit-and-guardians-allowance/tax-credits-child-benefit-and-guardians-allowance

HM Treasury. (2022, November 21). *Cost of living support fact sheet.* HM Treasury. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/autumn-statement-2022-cost-of-living-support-factsheet



House of Commons Education Committee. (2022). *Educational poverty: how children in residential care have been let down and what to do about it.* (HC No. 57). House of Commons Education Committee.

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/23006/documents/168514/default/

Joseph Rowntree Foundation. (2022). *UK poverty 2022: The essential guide to understanding poverty in the UK.* Joseph Rowntree Foundation. https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/uk-poverty-2022

Joseph Rowntree Foundation. (2023a). *The essential guide to understanding poverty in the UK*. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. https://www.jrf.org.uk/work/uk-poverty-2023-the-essential-guide-to-understanding-poverty-in-the-uk

Joseph Rowntree Foundation. (2023b). FACT SHEET: Dangerous new phase for families in debt - UK's economic insecurity by numbers. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. <a href="https://www.jrf.org.uk/news/fact-sheet-dangerous-new-phase-for-families-in-debt-uks-economic-insecurity-by-numbers#:~:text=Our%20research%20shows%20a%20fifth,without%20at%20least%20one%20essential

Joseph Rowntree Foundation. (2024). *UK Poverty 2024: The essential guide to understanding poverty in the UK.* Joseph Rowntree Foundation. https://www.jrf.org.uk/uk-poverty-2024-the-essential-guide-to-understanding-poverty-in-the-uk

James, S. (2016). Foster Care. In H. S. Friedman (Eds.), *Encyclopaedia of mental health* (pp. 257-261). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-397045-9.00239-1

Kelly, B., Dowling, S., & Winter, K. (2016). *Disabled children and young people in out-of-home care: summary report.* Queens University Belfast & Office of the First Minister and Deputy First Minister.

https://niopa.qub.ac.uk/bitstream/NIOPA/2262/1/summary-report-on-disabled-children-in-out-of-home-care.pdf

Kirke-Wade, E., & Harker, R. (2023). *Benefits uprating 2024/25*. (HC No. 9680). House of Commons Library.

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-9872/CBP-9872.pdf

Luke, N., & O'Higgins, A. (2018). Is the care system to blame for the poor educational outcomes of children looked-after? Evidence from a systematic review and national database analysis. *Children Australia*, *43*(2), 135-151. https://doi.org/10.1017/cha.2018.22

McCabe, R., Pollack, R., Braodbent, P, Thomson, R,M., Igelstrom, E., Pearce, A., Bambra, C., Bennet, D,L., Alexandros, A., Daras, K., Taylor-Robinson, D., Barr, B., & Katikireddi, S,V. (2024). Implications of child poverty reduction targets for public health and health inequalities in England: a modelling study between 2024 and 2033. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2024-222313



McDermott, E., Nelson, R., & Weeks, H. (2021). The politics of LGBT+ health inequality: conclusions from a UK scoping review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(2). http://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020826

McRae, I. (2023, February 27). *Is universal credit enough to live on? Here's why experts say the April increase is 'too little, too late'*. Big Issue. https://www.bigissue.com/news/social-justice/why-benefits-arent-increasing-in-line-with-inflation/

McSherry, D. (2004). Which came first, the chicken or the egg? Examining the relationship between child neglect and poverty. *British Journal of Social Work, 34*(5), 727-733.

https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bch087

Mell, I., & Whitten, M. (2022, April 26). Green space access is not equal in the UK. Rethinking Poverty. https://www.rethinkingpoverty.org.uk/land/green-space-access-is-not-equal-in-the-uk/

Morris, K., Mason, W., Bywaters, P., Featherstone, B., Daniel, B., Brady, G., Bunting, L., Hooper, J., Mirza, N., Scourfield, J., & Webb, C. (2018). Social work, poverty, and child welfare interventions. *Child & Family Social Work*, *23*(3), 364-372. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12423

Murray, R. (2022, September 26). *Acting on the evidence: ensuring the NHS meets the needs of trans people.* The King's Fund. https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2022/09/acting-evidence-ensuring-nhs-meets-needs-trans-people

National Institute of Health and Care Excellence. (2017). *Child abuse and neglect.* (NICE Publication No. NG76).National Institute of Health and Care Excellence. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng76

National Society for Prevention of Cruelty to Children. (2023, December 2020). *Protecting children from neglect.* NSPCC. https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/child-abuse-and-neglect/neglect

National Society for Prevention of Cruelty to Children. (2024, May 17). *Children in Care*. NSPCC. https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/children-and-families-at-risk/looked-after-children

New Economics Foundation. (2023, October18). People on universal credit could be as much as £650 worse off in April 2024, even i frates are increased in line with inflation. New Economics Foundation. https://neweconomics.org/2023/10/people-on-universal-credit-could-be-as-much-as-670-worse-off-in-april-2024-even-if-rates-are-increased-in-line-with-inflation

Nieuwenhuis, J., Kleinepier, T., & van Ham, M. (2021). The role of exposure to neighbourhood and school poverty in understanding educational



attainment. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *50*, 872-892. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-021-01427-x

Office of National Statistics. (2016, May 16). How do childhood circumstance affect your chances of poverty as an adult. Office of National Statistics.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/educationandchildcare/articles/howdochildhoodcircumstancesaffectyourchancesofpovertyasanadult/2016-05-16

Office of National Statistics. (2020, January 14). *Child neglect in England and Wales; Year ending March 2019.* Office of National Statistics.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/childneglectinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2019

Office of National Statistics. (2022a, November 4). Who are the children entering care in England?. Office of National Statistics.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/socialcare/articles/whoarethechildrenenteringcareinengland/2022-11-04

Office of National Statistics. (2022b, April 25). Health state life expectancies by national deprivation deciles, England: 2018 to 2020. Office of National Statistics. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2018to2020

Office of National Statistics. (2023a, March 30). *Outcomes for children in need, including children looked-after by local authorities in England*. Office of National Statistics. https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/outcomes-for-children-in-need-including-children-looked-after-by-local-authorities-in-england

Office of National Statistics. (2023b, June 2). Public opinions and social trends, Great Britain: 17 to 29 May 2023. Social insights on daily life and events, including the cost of living, and shortages of goods from Opinions and Lifestyle Survey (OPN). Office of National Statistics.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/publicopinionsandsocialtrendsgreatbritain/17to29may2023

Office of National Statistics. (2023c, December 4). Household costs indices for UK household groups: January 2022 to September 2023: Household Costs Indices, 12-month growth rates, expenditure shares and contributions for UK households groups and all households. Office of National Statistics.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/householdcostsindicesforukhouseholdgroups/january2022toseptember2023#:~:text=In%20the%20most%20recent%20month,October%202022%20(Figure%201)

Office of National Statistics. (2024), May 24). Consumer price inflation, UK: April 2024. Prices indices, percentage changes, and weights for the different measures of consumer price inflation. Office of National Statistics.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/consumerpric



<u>einflation/april2024#:~:text=The%20Consumer%20Prices%20Index%20(CPI,of%2</u>01.2%25%20in%20April%202023.

Ofsted. (2023). *Introduction to children's homes*. Ofsted. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/how-to-open-a-childrens-home/introduction-to-childrens-homes#contents

O'Sullivan, A., & Westerman, R. (2007). Closing the gap: Investigating the barriers to educational achievement for looked-after children. *Adoption & Fostering*, *31*(1), 13-20.

https://doi.org/10.1177/030857590703100104

Pearce, A., Dundas, R., Whitehead, M., & Taylor-Robinson, D. (2019). Pathways to inequalities in child health. *Archives of disease in childhood*, *104*(10), 998-1003. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2018-314808

Pelton, L. H. (2015). The continuing role of material factors in child maltreatment and placement. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *41*, 30-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.08.001

Quality Watch. (n.d.). How have inequalities in the quality of care changed over the last 10 years? The Health Foundation and Nuffield Trust. https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-01/quality_inequality/v2/#ACSConditions

Ray-Chaudhuri, S., Waters, T., & Xu, X. (2023, July 13). *Lump-sum cost of living payments poorly designed to alleviate deprivation*. Institute of Fiscal Studies. https://ifs.org.uk/news/lump-sum-cost-living-payments-poorly-designed-alleviate-deprivation

Rees, G., Timar, E., Dedewanou, F, A., Otchere, F., Carraro, A., & Cunsolo, S. (2023). *Child poverty in the midst of wealth: Innocenti report card 18.* Unicef. https://www.unicef.org/innocenti/reports/child-poverty-midst-wealth

Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. (2022). *Child health inequalities driven by child poverty in the UK - position statement.* Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/child-health-inequalities-position-statement#footnote34 o1xswjg

Royal Statistical Society. (2023, December 5). *Campaign success for RSS with new Household Cost Indices*. Royal Statistical Society. https://rss.org.uk/news-publications/2023/general-news/campaign-success-for-the-rss-with-new-household-co/

Ryan, J. P., & Schuerman, J. R. (2004). Matching family problems with specific family preservation services: A study of service effectiveness. *Children and youth services review*, *26*(4), 347-372.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2004.01.004



Sefton, T., Tucker, J., McCartney, C., Birchall, J., Cave, T., Moraitou-Politsi, N., & Spitz, C. (2019). *All kids count: The impact of the two-child limit after two years.* The Child Poverty Group, the Church of England, Women's Aid, Turn2Us and the Refugee Council. https://cpaq.org.uk/news/all-kids-count-impact-two-child-limit-after-two-years

Skinner, G. C., Bywaters, P. W., Bilson, A., Duschinsky, R., Clements, K., & Hutchinson, D. (2021). The 'toxic trio' (domestic violence, substance misuse and mental ill-health): How good is the evidence base?. *Children and Youth Services Review. 120*.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105678

Skinner, G. C., Bywaters, P. W., & Kennedy, E. (2023). A review of the relationship between poverty and child abuse and neglect: Insights from scoping reviews, systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Child Abuse Review*, *32*(2) https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2795

Stewart, K., Reader, M., Aldridge, H., & Patrick, R. (2022). *How do the benefit cap and the two child limit interact?* Benefit Changes and Larger Families. https://largerfamilies.study/publications/benefit-cap-two-child-limit-interact/

Swift, K. J. (1991). Contradictions in child welfare: Neglect and responsibility. In Baines, C., Evans, P., & Neysmith, S.(eds), *Women's Caring: A Feminist Perspective on Social Welfare (pp. 160-190)*. McClelland & Stewart.

The Children's Society. (2022, August 4). *Children's social care explained*. The Children's Society. https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/blogs/childrens-social-care-explained

The Countryside Charity. (2022). Local green space: a tool for people and natures well-being. the Countryside Charity. https://www.cpre.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Feb-2022 CPRE Local-Green-Spaces-full-report-1.pdf

Tims, S., & Wright, H. (2024, June 2). *Benefits debt deductions trapping people in poverty and debt*. New Economic Foundation. https://neweconomics.org/2024/06/benefits-debt-deductions-trapping-people-in-poverty-and-debt-1

Trussell Trust and Joseph Rowntree Foundation. (2023). *An essentials guide:* Reforming universal credit to ensure we can all afford the essentials in hard time. The Trussell Trust and Joseph Rowntree Foundation. https://www.jrf.org.uk/social-security/guarantee-our-essentials-reforming-universal-credit-to-ensure-we-can-all-afford-the

Trussell Trust and Joseph Rowntree Foundation. (2024). *The essentials guarantee level: update for 2024/2025.* The Trussell Trust and Joseph Rowntree Foundation. https://www.jrf.org.uk/social-security/guarantee-our-essentials-reforming-universal-credit-to-ensure-we-can-all-afford-the



For further information please contact: Styliana Pasiardi

Campaigns and Advocacy Officer styliana.pasiardi@togethertrust.org.uk 07557 813026

togethertrust.org.uk

